# ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC PREDICTORS OF ANTHRAX SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION IN KENYA

FREDRICK TOM OTIENO

A Research Thesis Submitted in Fulfilment of the Requirement for the Award of Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Management of South Eastern Kenya University

2022

# DECLARATION

I understand that plagiarism is an offence and I therefore declare	that this thesis is my
original work and has not been presented to any other institution	for any other award.
Signature Da	.te
Fredrick Tom Otieno	
B502/MAI/30004/2018	
This research thesis has been submitted for examination with our a	approval as University
Supervisors.	
Signature Da	te
Prof Peter G. Njuru	
Department of Environmental Science and Land Resources Mana	agement,
South Eastern Kenya University	
Signature Da	te
Dr Patrick Kariuki	
Geothermal Energy Training and Research Institute,	
Dedan Kimathi University of Technology	
Signature Da	.te
Dr John Gachohi	
School of Public Health, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agricultur	re and Technology
Signature Da	.te
Dr Bernard Bett	

International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI)

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would have liked to express my sincere appreciation to respective individuals and organisations who played a part in the successful completion of my research study. First and foremost, I give my sincere thanks to my host supervisors, Dr Bernard Bett and Dr John Gachohi for their constructive guidance, critiques and advice on my research conception, implementation, and publications. More thanks go to my university supervisors, Prof Peter Gikuma-Njuru and Dr Patrick Kariuki for their constructive guidance, reviews of publications and necessary support with the university requirements. I acknowledge Prof Njenga Kariuki for giving direct and indirect advice on the course of my study and publications. Additional thanks go to Disease Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA) for funding this research. My unreserved appreciation goes to International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) for giving me a golden opportunity to pursue my research and facilitating my subsistence and research travels. I am truly indebted to all ILRI colleagues whom I interacted with professionally and administratively during my research. In addition, I thank the ILRI Capacity Development Unit, Animal and Human Health program and Finance and Administration staff, for their unrelentless support in providing necessary advice, communications, and administrative support within and without institution. I cannot forget to acknowledge my office mates and colleagues at Mara House who provided me with great social, emotional, and professional support during the gruelling time of the research. My appreciation further goes to the staff at Washington State University-Global health, Kenya for facilitating field and active data collection on anthrax outbreaks and writing workshops, which formed an invaluable part of my research and publications. My further appreciations go to the staff at Directorate of Veterinary Services and Zoonotic Disease Unit who made available historical anthrax outbreak data and supported in field data collection respectively. Special thanks go to my loving sister Rose for not tiring to provide support and advice to my family during the challenging time of this research. Last but most importantly my unreserved thanks go to my wife Betty and our children Amagi, Ortiz and Abonyo for their understanding, unconditional love and support despite my idiosyncrasies during this research.

# DEDICATION

To my elder loving sister, senior educator, Millicent Joyce Atieno (Mrs Mola) who has genuinely mothered, inspired, mentored and supported me in achieving my life dreams.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Dedication	iii
Table of Contets	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Appendices	x
Abbreviations and Acronyms	xi
Abstract	xiii
Abstract	Xi

# **CHAPTER ONE**

1.0	Introduction
1.1	Background of the study 1
1.2	Statement of the problem
1.3	Objectives of the study
1.3.1	General objective
1.3.2	Specific objectives
1.4	Research Hypothesis
1.5	Significance of the study
1.6	Limitations and mitigation
1.7	Scope of the study7

# **CHAPTER TWO**

2.0	Literature Review	8
2.1	Anthrax aetiology and ecology	8
2.2	Anthrax global distribution	10
2.3	Anthrax in Kenya	11
2.4	Anthrax and ecological niche modelling (ENM)	12
2.4.1	Profile algorithms	14
2.4.2	Regression algorithms	16

2.4.3	Machine learning algorithms	17
2.4.4	ENM algorithm, boosted regression trees (BRT)	19
2.4.5	ENM predictor variables	20
2.4.6	ENM evaluation	21
2.5	Anthrax and climate change	23
2.6	Anthrax and vulnerability	24
2.6.1	GIS-based multi-criteria decision analysis (GIS-MCDA)	27
2.6.2	Analytic hierarchy process (AHP)	29
2.6.3	Vulnerability analysis (GIS-MCDA and AHP)	30
2.7	Summary and Knowledge Gaps	31
2.7.1	Conceptual framework	32
	CHAPTER THREE	
3.0	Methodology	34
3.1	Study area	34
3.2	Study design	35
3.3	Prediction of potential anthrax distribution	36
3.3.1	Occurrence data	36
3.3.2	Predictor variable selection	37
3.3.3	Model building and evaluation	37
3.3.4	Hypothesis testing	38
3.3.5	Specific predictions under current and climate change scenarios	39
3.4	Socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk	40
3.4.1	Vulnerability framework	40
3.4.2	Vulnerability assessment data processing	41
3.4.3	Determination of relative weights	45
3.4.4	Spatial weighted overlay	45

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

4.0	Results	46	
4.1	Anthrax distribution prediction and the influencing factors	46	
4.1.1	Predicted anthrax distribution	46	
4.1.2	Relative influence of the variables	49	
4.1.3	Marginal effects of the variables	49	
4.2	Anthrax distribution as influenced by multi climate changes	51	
4.2.1	Predicted anthrax distribution under multi-climate scenarios	53	
4.2.2	Change in potential anthrax distribution	55	
4.2.3	Marginal effects of the climate scenario variables	56	
4.3	Socio-economic vulnerabilities due to predicted anthrax risk	57	
4.3.1	AHP relative weights	57	
4.3.2	Assessment of socio-economic vulnerability	58	
	CHAPTER FIVE		
5.0	Discussion	63	
5.1	Anthrax spatial distribution and the influencing factors	63	
5.2	Anthrax distribution as influenced by multi climate changes	66	
5.3	Socio-economic vulnerabilities due to predicted anthrax risk	69	
5.4	Conclusions	71	
5.5	Recommendations	71	
Referen	References		
Append	Appendices		

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 2-1:</b>	Profile algorithms	15
<b>Table 2-2:</b>	Regression algorithms	16
<b>Table 2-3:</b>	Machine learning algorithms	17
Table 2-4:	The Saaty's fundamental rating scale	30
Table 3-1:	List of indicators for vulnerability to anthrax outbreaks	43
<b>Table 3-2:</b>	Criteria class ranks based on defining anthrax risk level	44
Table 4-1:	Final predictor variables fitted in BRT niche model	46
<b>Table 4-2:</b>	Variables fitted for climate scenarios niche modelling	52
Table 4-3:	Pairwise Comparison Matrix and Weights of the Criteria.	58

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1:	Anthrax life cycle	9
Figure 2-2:	Global anthrax outbreaks of anthrax by 413 countries	
	(2015-2016)	11
Figure 2-3:	Distribution of anthrax outbreaks in Kenya (1957-2017)	12
Figure 2-4:	Global distribution of ENM studies (2018).	14
Figure 2-5:	Receiver Operator Characteristic curve.	23
Figure 2-6:	Framework for estimating anthrax vulnerability.	27
Figure 2-7:	GIS-MSDA and AHP in generating vulnerability map	30
Figure 2-8:	Direct and indirect variables in anthrax distribution and	
	vulnerability	33
Figure 3-1:	Map of Kenya showing administrative units and their	
	elevations	34
Figure 3-2:	Study counties anthrax events and their Agroecological	
	zones (AEZs)	36
Figure 3-3:	Vulnerability assessment processes based on GIS-MCDA	
	approach	41
Figure 4-1:	Mean AUC-ROC curve from 100 model runs in	47
Figure 4-2:	Predicted geographic distribution of anthrax in Kenya.	48
Figure 4-3:	Wildlife protected areas versus the predicted anthrax	
	distribution in Kenya	48
Figure 4-4:	Influence of each final variables in the prediction of anthrax	
	distribution in Kenya	49
Figure 4-5:	Marginal effects on the mean prediction probability of potential	
	anthrax distribution by each variable across the 100 model runs	51
Figure 4-6:	Influence of each final climate variables in the prediction of	
	anthrax distribution in Kenya under current	52
Figure 4-7:	Mean AUC-ROC curve from 100 model runs in anthrax	
	distribution prediction due to climate change modelling	53
Figure 4-8:	Relative predicted distribution of anthrax for Kenya under	
	multiple climate scenarios.	54

Figure 4-9:	Dichotomised maps of predicted anthrax distribution at	
	Youden index $\geq 0.75$ suitability	54
Figure 4-10:	Changes in predicted anthrax risk in Kenya under RCP 4.5	
	and RCP 8.5 climate scenarios.	55
Figure 4-11:	Potential anthrax distributional changes and shifts in Kenya	
	under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 relative to current climatic scenario	56
Figure 4-12:	Marginal effects plots of climate variables on the mean prediction	
	probability of potential anthrax distribution	57
Figure 4-13:	Map of socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk in Kenya at	
	current scenario.	59
Figure 4-14:	Maps of socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk under	
	multiple climatic scenarios	60
Figure 4-15:	Maps of risk to anthrax exposure per vulnerability component	61
Figure 4-16:	The inter quartile range for each criteria contribution to the	
	aggregated indices of the vulnerability components.	62

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1:	Anti-plagiarism check results	94
Appendix 2:	Environment and socioeconomic data description, sources and	
	references	95
Appendix 3:	Current and future climate data description, sources and	
	references	97
Appendix 4:	R script for ENM of BRT	99
Appendix 5:	Application of AHP to derive criteria weights	104
Appendix 6:	Publications	106

# ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANN	:	Artificial Neural Network
AEZ	:	Agro Ecological Zones
AHP	:	Analytical Hierarchical Process
AR4	:	Fourth Assessment Report
ASAL	:	Arid and semi-arid areas
AUC	:	Area Under Curve
AUCROC	:	Area under the curve of the receiver operating characteristics
BRT	:	Boosted Regression Trees
CI	:	Consistency Index
CR	:	Consistency Ratio
ELETRE	:	Elimination and Choice Translating Reality
ENFA	:	Ecological Niche Factor Analysis
ENM	:	Ecological Niche Modelling
FPR	:	False positive rate
DVS	:	Directorate of Veterinary Services
GAM	:	General Additive Model
GARP	:	Genetic Algorithm for Rule-Set Prediction
GHG	:	Green House Gas
GIS	:	Geographic Information System
GPS	:	Global positioning systems
GLM	:	Generalised Linear Models
ILRI	:	International Livestock Research Institute
IPCC	:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IQR	:	Interquartile ranges
IREC	:	Institutional Research Ethics Committee
KABS	:	Kenya Animal Bio-surveillance System
KEMRI	:	Kenya Medical Research Institute
KWS	:	Kenya Wildlife Services
RCP	:	Representative Concentration Pathway
RF	:	Random Forest
RVF	:	Rift Valley Fever

ROC	:	Receiving Operator Characteristics
PDP	:	Partial dependency plots
PH	:	Acidity or alkalinity of a solution on a logarithmic scale
MARS	:	Multiadaptive Regression Model Splines
MAUT	:	Multi-attribute Utility Theory
MAXENT	:	Maximum Entropy
MCDA	:	Multicriteria decision analysis
MCDM	:	Multiple-criteria decision-making
NDVI	:	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
SDM	:	Species Disease Modelling
SMART	:	Simple Multi-attribute Ranking Technique
USGS	:	United States Geological Society
QGIS	:	Quantum Geographical Information System
RVF	:	Rift Valley Fever
SERU	:	Scientific and Ethics Review Unit, KEMRI
TOPSIS	:	Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution
TPR	:	True positive rate
TNR	:	True negative rate
TSS	:	True Skill Statistics
UNICEF	:	United Nations International Children Education Fund
VIF	:	Variable Inflation Factors
WHO	:	World Health Organisation

#### ABSTRACT

Anthrax spatial distributions and the potential driving factors remain poorly understood worldwide and in Kenya. This study aimed at establishing environmental and socialeconomic predictors of the spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya through (1) determining the relationship between selected environmental and socio-economic factors on spatial distribution of anthrax through use of an ecological niche modelling framework; (2) predicting the effect of climate change on the future spatial distribution of anthrax; and (3) establishing the influence of socio-economic factors in vulnerability to anthrax. Ecological Niche Model (ENM) of boosted regression trees (BRT) algorithm was applied to predict the suitable spatial environments for anthrax under current and future climate scenarios in Kenya. The model fitted confirmed anthrax occurrences from three distinct sources of retrospective records (2011 to 2017), sporadic anthrax outbreaks (2017 to 2018) and active surveillance (2019 to 2020) against selected predictor variables to yield current and future anthrax risk maps. Finally, the underlying socio-economic vulnerability due to the risks of anthrax distribution was assessed by laying over socio-economic indicators in spatial multicriteria decision analysis to produce socio-economic vulnerability maps. The high-risk areas for anthrax outbreaks were identified predominantly in: regions around western Kenya bordering Uganda; southwestern regions bordering Tanzania and regions around central highlands of Kenya. Based on the current scenario, the number of humans affected was estimated at ~ 193,00,840 people/sq.km while that of livestock was at  $\sim$ 7,750,675 animals / sq.km. The important contributing predictor variables were predominantly cattle density, rain of the wettest month, monthly precipitations, soil clay, soil pH, soil carbon, longest dry season and temperature range. The anthrax highly suitable areas expanded from current to future climatic scenarios with current at 36131 km2, RCP 4.5, 40012 km2, and RCP 8.5, 39835 km2. Highly socio-economic vulnerable areas closely correlated with areas of high anthrax risk currently and into the future. At current vulnerability index > 75%, approximately 40,369,455 people were estimated to be at risk. This study results will guide risk-based surveillance and strategies for managing anthrax under One Health approach and also contributes to future research studies within Kenya and beyond.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background of the study

Anthrax is a global important zoonotic disease caused by, soil-borne spore forming, Gram-positive, rod-shaped bacterium, *Bacillus anthracis* that affects livestock, wildlife and humans with widespread socio-economic impacts (Joyner, 2010; Turnbull, 2008). Even though omnivores and carnivores are infected by anthrax, they are moderately resistant (Fasanella *et al.*, 2010a). Humans get infected through contact with the infected animals and their products, consuming infected meat, or inhalation of the bacterial spores. Consequently, human anthrax presents with three forms of infection: cutaneous, gastrointestinal, and inhalational, with cutaneous form accounting for more than 95% of human cases worldwide (Turnbull, 2008). Cutaneous anthrax presents when a broken skin encounters an infected material; gastrointestinal anthrax results from consuming anthrax-infected meat; and inhalational anthrax results from inhaling anthrax spores. If anthrax is untreated in humans, 20% fatality rates occur (Swartz, 2001). In addition to anthrax being of public health importance, it has recently attracted national to global security implications where it has been employed in bioterrorism (Blackburn *et al.*, 2015; Fasanella *et al.*, 2010a; Goel, 2015)

The persistence of anthrax is dependent on the *B. anthracis* spore survival in the environment for long periods, availability of susceptible animals, and contact between the animals and the spores during grazing (Turnbull, 2008). Spores can survive in soils for very long periods with some areas experiencing recurrent outbreaks (Smith *et al.*, 2000). Spores can also remain in buried carcasses and get uncovered when such burial sites are upset. They could also be transferred via animal products of infected animals (Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002). (Blackburn *et al.*, 2014; Dragon and Rennie, 1995). Ingestion of spores by a grazing or browsing animal initiates the cycle of anthrax infection (Turnbull, 2008), where within the infected host, the spores germinate into vegetative forms that kills the host. Then, a proportion of the *bacilli* is released into the environment with non-clotted blood; the released *bacilli* sporulates under the conducive condition in the presence of free oxygen, which then become ready to be

taken up by a new host. The spores become infectious from less than one hour to many decades later to restart a new cycle.

Anthrax outbreaks are majorly influenced by factors that affect B. anthracis sporulation and germination including soil properties, climate, seasonality, host health and anthropogenic activities (Turnbull, 2008). Soil characteristics and properties are associated with anthrax persistence such that soils, rich in calcium and organic matter with a pH above 6.0 favour multiplication and vegetative growth cycles of *B. anthracis* (Van Ness, 1971). Climatic factors of temperature and rainfall trends, their seasonality and extremes determine anthrax outbreak distribution (Blackburn, 2010; Mwakapeje et al., 2019; Walsh et al., 2019). In addition, they indirectly affect animals' general health and their ability to resist anthrax infection (Turnbull, 2008). Changes in climate are expected to influence future transmission patterns of infectious diseases such as anthrax (Bett et al., 2017). While transmission of B. anthracis is largely environmentally mediated, spatio-temporal anthrax outbreaks patterns are influenced by prevailing socio-economic and cultural livelihoods (Lepheana et al., 2018; Sitali et al., 2017). Scavengers and necrophagous or hematophagous flies also play a significant role in the transfer and dispersal of B. anthracis spores (Blackburn et al., 2014; Dragon and Rennie, 1995). Anthrax is still common in some Mediterranean countries, small pockets of Canada, USA, certain central and south America, central Asia countries, several sub-Saharan African countries and western China (Turnbull, 2008). Sub-Saharan Africa is thought to be the geographical origin of *B. anthracis* (Keim et al., 1997). Kenya has had her share of anthrax outbreaks dating back to as early as 1957 (Nderitu et al., 2021). Despite the confirmed anthrax outbreaks in Kenya, there is still paucity of knowledge on anthrax spatial ecology and the associated risk factors that promote its long-term survival and intermittent outbreaks. Indeed, there is lack of anthrax risk map for the entire Kenya and detailed understanding of ecological risk factors that compromise targeted livestock vaccination, public education, and early detection and response in wildlife, livestock, and humans (Muturi et al., 2018).

Accurate geographical distribution information is necessary for informed anthrax surveillance and control strategies (Barro *et al.*, 2016). This can be achieved through

ecological niche model (ENM), an approach that informs investigations on the known geography or potential geographies of vectors, hosts, pathogens, or human cases at a fine spatial scale without loss of information (Peterson, 2006). The ENM relies on statistical correlations between existing species occurrences and environmental or socio-economic variables (Mischler *et al.*, 2012). In the case of anthrax outbreaks, the existing species being *B. anthracis*. ENM process is only possible after data acquisition and preparation with the aid of Geographical Information Systems (GIS) and Remote Sensing (Blackburn, 2010). The occurrences' locations can be determined as centres of the study units or precisely acquired locally using Global positioning Systems (GPS). Collected data are fed into a GIS framework for spatial analysis to process and extract variables for use as inputs in ENM algorithms.

Anthrax in Kenya remains uncontrolled, in part due to lack of risk maps to identify areas vulnerable to the disease to guide surveillance and control programmes. In response, this study is the first to predict the specific geographical distribution of anthrax as a proxy of risk using ENM for the entire country. The study uniquely utilized three sources of anthrax occurrences data from historical archives in addition to passively and actively collected data. The study also identified the influencing factors to the prediction presenting in the Kenyan environment and the influencing climatic factors under multi climatic scenarios. Further the study determined the socioeconomic vulnerability associated to the predicted anthrax risk. The results from this study will inform targeted risk-based surveillance and strategies for managing anthrax outbreaks in Kenya. In addition, the study will contribute to the body of knowledge on anthrax and serve as reference to future research on anthrax within and without Kenya.

### **1.2 Statement of the problem**

Kenya has experienced recurrent anthrax clustered outbreaks in specific areas pointing to endemicity. Over the past 60 years, 666 livestock anthrax outbreaks have been reported in Kenya translating to approximately 10 anthrax outbreaks annually (Nderitu *et al.*, 2021). Anthrax pauses severe disease burden, socio-economic impact, epidemic potential to Kenyans and as such, has been ranked the highest priority zoonotic disease

(Munyua et al., 2016). There is a possibility of some anthrax outbreak areas being unknown due to poor or unreliable reporting by livestock keepers. Futhermore, lack of integrated reporting from health and veterinary sectors on zoonoses has also been pointed to undermine tracking of anthrax outbreaks (Falzon et al., 2019). Persistence of anthrax and its expansion or re-emergence is expected due to influence of changes in climate. In addition, outbreaks and persistence of anthrax is exacerbated by poverty and low education levels that expose people slaughtering, selling and consuming anthrax affected meat. Despite the confirmed anthrax outbreaks in Kenya, there is still paucity of knowledge on anthrax spatial ecology or the specific geography of favouring environmental conditions or factors that promote its long-term survival and intermittent outbreaks.Furthermore, there is no anthrax risk map at the country scale and detailed understanding of ecological risk factors which hamper targeted livestock vaccination, public education, and early detection and response in wildlife, livestock, and humans. Preventing anthrax outbreaks requires that its transmission and infection be broken through practical approaches such as efficient surveillance systems which can be duly informed throug risk and vulnerability maps. The maps can be developed from curent and future scenarios predictions to guide risk-based surveillance strategies for both livestock and wildlife.

### 1.3 Objectives of the study

#### **1.3.1** General objective

The general objective of the study was to establish environmental and social-economic predictors of spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya.

### **1.3.2** Specific objectives

The specific objectives were:

- To determine the relationship between selected environmental and socioeconomic factors on spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya.
- To predict the effect of climate change on the future spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya.

 To determine spatially explicit socio-economic vulnerabilities to the spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya

#### **1.4 Research Hypothesis**

The hypotheses for the research were:

H<sub>0</sub>1: Specific environmental and socio-economic factors do not significantly influence the potential spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya.

H<sub>0</sub>2: Changes in climate will not significantly affect the future spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya.

H<sub>0</sub>3: Anthrax spatial distribution interacting with spatially explicit socio-economic factors do not significantly influence socio-economic vulnerability in Kenya.

### 1.5 Significance of the study

Due to anthrax burden, socio-economic impact, epidemic potential, and severity, valid information and knowledge on its likely outbreaks in Kenya are highly required for surveillance and subsequent control strategies. This study identifies the potential anthrax hotspot areas, the influencing risk factors and the associated socio-economic vulnerability which will aid in the necessary One Health interventions and outreach programs to the risk areas. The risk areas are presented in anthrax distribution severity maps attributed to influencing environmental and multiple climate change risk factors. Furthermore, socio-economic vulnerability severity maps due to the anthrax risks are developed to incorporate the socio-economic, demographic and health dimensions. These maps present valuable spatial information to serve as a planning and interventional tool for livestock and health sectors at national and subnational governments and non-governmental partners. The study results will precisely guide risk-based surveillance and strategies for managing anthrax outbreaks, including vaccinations and the timing of public health warnings in identified high-risk areas by specifically the Department of Veterinary Services. The identified anthrax hotspots will be ideal for investigating, in details, risk factors associated with the long-term survival of anthrax spores and outbreak occurrences.

#### **1.6 Limitations and mitigation**

Several limitations on this study were identified, however this did not invalidate the study as mitigation measures were put in place to in an attempt to minimise their negative effects.

- 1) The publicly available disaggregated and spatially explicit data were obtained from different sources and this may undermine data quality and accuracy at different scales. Even though there is little room for altering existing secondary data, an attempt was made to make a careful selection of data. They were from credible sources, broadly used and tested in previous similar studies, have associated metadata and being of high resolution and scale as possible for the study area.
- 2) The general circulation models (GCMs) climate data have inherent uncertainties emanating from individual specific parameters and functions to project the climate scenarios (Gowtham et al., 2018). This study used africlim\_ensemble\_v3\_[base] that averages ten GCMs to reduce biases (Platts et al., 2015).
- AUC accuracy metrics employed in model evaluation have been criticized as not optimal for ENM models accuracy evaluation (Lobo *et al.*, 2008; Peterson *et al.*, 2008). In this study AUC metrics were averaged from 100 ensemble runs to minimize the bias.
- 4) Poor reporting has been documented to underestimate anthrax outbreaks in Kenya (Abdirahim *et al.*, 2019), which has got an implication on the sample size. This study employed three sources of anthrax outbreaks data in an attempt to obtain optimized the sample size.
- 5) There is a chance that the locations of pseudo-absences generated to represent absences might overlap with presences locations (Pearce and Boyce, 2006). The pseudo-absences in this study were generated at least 5km Euclidian distance away from any outbreak points to minimize any possible overlap.
- 6) In vulnerability assessment, the choice of the framework and data availability might result in a vulnerability map that is compromised and not detailed enough to capture the local disparities. In this study, an attempt was made to mitigate these challenges by adopting a vastly tested IPCC vulnerability framework and only use validated data at resolution 1 km or less to be as detailed as possible.

### **1.7 Scope of the study**

This study evaluated the specific biogeography of anthrax in Kenya using spatial analyses and ecological niche modelling based on environmental and socio-economic characteristics of anthrax outbreak locations upscaled to cover the whole country.

Several candidate environmental and socio-economic variables associated with anthrax propagation were obtained and subjected to a rigorous selection process before the filtered variables fitted in modelling. Only confirmed anthrax outbreak cases were used. The ethics requirements adhered to ethical and compliance guidelines obtained from KEMRI Scientific and Ethics Review Unit (SERU) (Ref: KEMRI/RES/7/3/1)

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### **2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Anthrax aetiology and ecology

Anthrax is a bacterial disease caused by the spore forming *Bacillus anthracis*, a Grampositive rod-shaped bacterium, which is the only obligate pathogen in the large genus *Bacillus* (Turnbull, 2008). *B. anthracis* formed spores are the etiological agents of anthrax. Factors that affect sporulation and germination of *B. anthracis* include environmental factors such as soil pH, temperature, water activity and cation levels. Others factors are related to the season; health of the host, insect populations and human activities (Turnbull, 2008). Anthrax affects angulate herbivorous animals (both livestock and wildlife) and humans (Turnbull, 2008; Van Ness, 1971). Humans, carnivorous and omnivorous get infected albeit with moderate resistance (Fasanella *et al.*, 2010a; Turnbull, 2008).

Infection of livestock anthrax occurs through ingestion of the spores or from inoculation by biting flies (Joyner, 2010). The cycle of anthrax infection begins when grazing or browsing animal ingest the spores (Turnbull, 2008), where: within the infected host the spores germinate to produce the vegetative forms which multiply, eventually killing the host; then a proportion of the *bacilli* released by the dying or dead animal into the environment sporulate under conducive condition in presence of free oxygen, ready to be taken up by a new host from less than one hour or many decades later. *B. anthracis* spores can survive in soils for long periods of time resulting in some areas experiencing regularly occurring outbreaks (Smith *et al.*, 2000). Scavenger birds such as vultures are associated with dispersal of anthrax-causing bacterial or spores to distant areas in rural environments (Turnbull, 2008). Flies also have been associated with anthrax outbreaks in endemic areas where necrophagic flies increase number of cases while haemophilic flies increase transmission in space (Blackburn *et al.*, 2014; Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009). **Figure 2-1** summarises the anthrax life cycle.



Figure 2-1: Anthrax life cycle. (Source: Turnbull, 1998)

Humans get infected through contact with the infected animals and their products or through consuming infected meat or inhalation of spores. This presents three forms of infection namely cutaneous, gastrointestinal and inhalational. The cutaneous infection accounts for more than 95% of human cases worldwide (Turnbull, 2008). Cutaneous anthrax presents when humans' broken skin encounters an infected material, gastrointestinal, when humans consume anthrax infected meat, and inhalational, when humans inhale anthrax spores. If anthrax is untreated in humans, 20% fatality rates occur (Swartz, 2001).

Despite being a disease of antiquity, little is known about the spatial ecology of anthrax or the specific geography of environmental conditions that promote long-term survival of *B. anthracis* (Blackburn, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2000). Much has been written and hypothesized about the effects of season, rainfall, temperature, soil, vegetation, host condition and population density on the epidemiology of anthrax (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Dragon and Rennie, 1995; Fasanella *et al.*, 2010a; Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002; Saile and Koehler, 2006; Turnbull, 2008; Van Ness, 1971). However, these factors

vary among locations globally, making it difficult to define a single consistent ecological description for anthrax. Furthermore, different strains of *B. anthracis* thrive in different geographic environments (Carlson *et al.*, 2018; Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009).

### 2.2 Anthrax global distribution

Anthrax outbreaks are common in several regions including in sub-Saharan Africa, south America, central Asia, Mediterranean, western China, Australia, Canada and the USA (Barro et al., 2016, Turnbull, 2008). A population of 1.83 billion people are estimated to live within regions of anthrax risk (Carlson et al., 2018). Recently anthrax outbreaks have also been reported in Arctic regions, zones previously assumed free of anthrax, due to warming temperatures thawing the permafrost (Ezhova et al., 2021, Stella et al., 2020). Interestingly, sub-Saharan Africa is thought to be the geographical origin of *B. anthracis* and has indeed reported frequent anthrax outbreaks (Blackburn et al., 2015; Chikerema et al., 2013; Driciru et al., 2018; Kracalik et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2000). On the eastern regions of sub-Saharan Africa, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Uganda and Kenya, have had their share in the frequent outbreaks (Assefa et al., 2020; Driciru et al., 2018; Mwakapeje et al., 2018, Nderitu et al., 2021). Figure 2-2 shows the global distribution of anthrax occurrences from 413 countries (2015-2016). Anthrax outbreaks negatively impact public health, economies and welfare of the livestock keepers in anthrax endemic countries due to poor anthrax prevention and control programs (Vieira et al., 2017). Furthermore, weak surveillance systems, especially in sub-Saharan Africa, contribute to high morbidity, mortality, and socioeconomic impact of anthrax (Lepheana et al., 2018; Muturi et al., 2018; Opare et al., 2000; Sitali et al., 2017). Recently anthrax has attracted global security concerns as an agent for bioterrorism (Fasanella et al., 2010a; Goel, 2015).



Figure 2-2: Global anthrax outbreaks of anthrax by 413 countries (2015-2016). (Source: Carlson et al., 2018)

### 2.3 Anthrax in Kenya

Kenya has experienced anthrax outbreaks in livestock, human and wildlife both historically and in the recent past (Bett and Gachohi 2019, GIDEON, 2018; Kaitho et al., 2013; Muoria et al., 2007; Muturi et al., 2014, Muturi et al., 2018; Odhiambo et al., 2013). Indeed anthrax outbreaks dating back to as early as 1957 have been reported with 666 outbreaks translating to approximately 10 anthrax outbreaks annually in Kenya (Nderitu *et al.*, 2021). Figure 2-3 shows the distribution of anthrax outbreaks in Kenya (1957-2017). While anthrax appears endemic in some areas, new outbreaks have also been reported (Odhiambo, et al., 2013). Anthrax transmission in Kenyan regions (e.g., Kisumu, Marsabit, Nakuru, Narok, Isiolo and Wajir) have been attributed predominantly to human behaviours that encourage contact with infected tissues or eating infected carcasses, local knowledge about anthrax not withstanding (Abdirahim, M. A., 2018; Mbai et al., 2021; Mugo et al., 2021; Muturi et al., 2018). Based on the disease burden, socio-economic impact, epidemic potential, and severity, anthrax has been ranked the highest priority zoonotic disease in Kenya (Munyua et al., 2016). The availability of limited information undermines anthrax surveillance systems hence contribute to high morbidity, mortality, and socio-economic impact of anthrax in Kenya (Muturi et al., 2018). Kenya reports more than 10 multi-species anthrax outbreaks annually, however, risk map has been developed for the country that can help in prevention and control strategies (Muturi et al., 2018). Muturi et al., (2018) further point out that the risk map and an understanding of the ecological risk factors

is necessary to promote targeted livestock vaccination, public education, and early detection and response in livestock, wildlife, and humans.



Figure 2-3: Distribution of anthrax outbreaks in Kenya (1957-2017). (Source: author)

### 2.4 Anthrax and ecological niche modelling (ENM)

Joseph Grinnell brought the foundation concepts of ecological niches fore in 1917, where he postulated a niche as a part of the habitat possessing environmental conditions that enable individuals of a species to survive and reproduce, hence determining their distribution and abundance (Colwell and Rangel, 2009). Later in 1957, George Evelyn Hutchinson conceptualized duality defining a relationship between environmental and geographical space, thus providing a powerful way to model biogeographical distributions in relation to spatial environmental patterns. These theories inform ENM that is useful in predicting potential distribution of species such as *B. anthracis* in a given environment. Ecological niche modelling is a correlative model relating known occurrences with environmental variables based on conditions that meet a species' ecological requirements to predict the relative distribution (Warren and Seifert, 2011). ENM is sometimes referred to loosely as species distribution, habitat distribution, or climatic envelope model, but methods

based only on geographical variables disregarding environmental correlation are not considered ENM (Peterson and Soberón, 2012; Sillero, 2011). Apart from environmental variables, socio-economic variables can also be fitted in an ENM (Hollings *et al.*, 2017).

The resulting ENM distribution maps do not show actual occurrences of a species but highlight areas that have similar conditions to areas where species have occurred. Hence, it is an estimation of where a species can occur (Huijbers *et al.*, 2016). Warren and Seifert (2011) outline the standard application of ENMs as 1) estimation of suitability of habitat known to be occupied by a species. 2)Suitability of habitat in geographic areas not currently occupied by a species. 3) Changes in the suitability of habitat over time due to specific scenario for environmental change. ENM has been proposed as a reliable method to identify potential anthrax outbreak risk areas for targeted surveillance strategies (Barro *et al.*, 2016; Blackburn *et al.*, 2017; Vieira *et al.*, 2017).

The detailed description of species distribution model processes, which also applies for ENM, as they are often used interchangeably, is given by Huijbers et al., (2016). 1) correlation of species occurrences and measurements of environmental data with the assumption that the current distribution of a species is a good indicator of its ecological requirements. 2) Fitting the two data into a selected algorithm to estimate the probability of a species occurring in a place as some function of the environmental conditions of that place. 3) geographically projecting on a map, the model predicted species distribution. ENM employs machine learning, regression-based and rule-based algorithms. Several studies have applied selected ENM algorithms for anthrax outbreak prediction in different environments closer to Kenya and away including in Tanzania, Zimbabwe, Ghana, Australia, USA and Mexico, and China (Barro et al., 2016; Blackburn, 2010; Chen et al., 2016; Chikerema et al., 2013; Kracalik et al., 2017; Mwakapeje et al., 2019). Most studies applied anthrax occurrence data from historical databases, sometimes limited (Blackburn et al., 2015, Barro et al., 2016) Figure 2-4 shows the countries where these ENM studies have been applied by 2018 while Table 2-1 presents the descriptions of commonly applied ENM algorithms.



Figure 2-4: Global distribution of ENM studies (2018). (Source: author)

ENM as a spatial distribution model broadly employs profile, regression-based and machine learning algorithms. Within the algorithms two approaches of response data, presence-absence or presence-only, are fitted. The choice of the approaches depends on data availability. When absence data is not available, the presences-only approach is applied, but pseudo-absence as absence data are generated. The pseudo-absences represent background areas from which species data are missing but might fall on presence locations (Pearce and Boyce, 2006). Randomly selected pseudo- absences are suggested to yield the most reliable distribution models (Barbet- Massin *et al.*, 2012).

# 2.4.1 Profile algorithms

The profile models define multidimensional space from simple mathematical techniques that associate threshold distances or bounds of environmental variables to species occurrences as the potential range where species can occur. These models include: BIOCLIM, DOMAIN, Environmental Niche Factor Analysis (ENFA) and Mahalanobis distance as detailed in **Table 2-1**.

Algorithms	Description	Type of data	Reference
BIOCLIM	Was the first species	Presence-only	(Booth et al.,
	distribution model (SDM)		2014)
	package to be widely used.		
	Uses observed presence of		
	a species to predict		
	suitable environments		
	using bioclimatic		
	envelope.		
DOMAIN	Uses a point-to-point	Presence-only	(Carpenter et al.,
	similarity metric to assign		1993)
	a classification value to a		
	candidate site based on the		
	proximity in		
	environmental space of the		
	most similar record site		
Environmental	Computes suitability	Presence, user	(Hirzel et al.,
Niche Factor	functions by comparing	pseudo-	2002)
Analysis (ENFA)	the species distribution in	absence	
	the ecogeographic		
	variables space with that of		
	the entire study area.		
Mahalanobis	Creates a multivariate	Presence only	(McLachlan,
distance	mean based on the		1999)
	environmental conditions		
	at the points where the		
	species has been observed		
	and gives a measure of		
	dissimilarity at all other		
	locations within the study		
	area.		

# Table 2-1: Profile algorithms

### **2.4.2 Regression algorithms**

Regression algorithms statistically derive estimates of the effect of environmental variables on the species distribution by constructing a function that best describes the effect of the environmental predictors on species occurrence. **Table 2-2** gives the details of the widely used regression models in species distribution modelling.

Algorithms	Description	Type of data	Reference
Generalised Linear	Regression-based	Presence, user	(Elith and
models (GLMs)	SDM that uses	pseudo-absence	Leathwick,
	occurrence and		2009)
	background data as		
	dependent variables		
	and environmental		
	data as independent		
	variables.		
Generalised	Are like GLMs but use	Presence, user	(Elith and
Additive models	data-defined, scatter	pseudo-absence	Leathwick,
(GAMs)	plot smoothers to		2009)
	describe nonlinear		
	responses.		
Multivariate	Closely related to	Presence, user	(Elith and
adaptive	regression techniques	pseudo-absence	Leathwick,
regression splines	such as GAM but has		2007)
(MARS)	an advantage in its		
	analytical speed and		
	the ease of transfer of		
	analysis results to		
	other computational		
	environments such as a		
	Geographic		
	Information System		

 Table 2-2: Regression algorithms

### 2.4.3 Machine learning algorithms

Machine learning algorithms model the association of species occurrences and environmental variables through experience and by the use of data. They partition data into training and testing data in modelling and evaluating the accuracy of the species distribution in association with environmental predictors. The widely applied machine learning algorithms in SDM are detailed in **Table 2-3** below.

Algorithms	Description	Type of data	Reference
Boosted regression	Combines two algorithms	Presence, user	(Elith and
trees (BRT)	of regression trees and	pseudo-absence	Leathwick,
	boosting, to build and fit		2017)
	many models and		
	improve predictions by		
	focusing resources on		
	outliers.		
Random	Uses a collection of tree-	Presence, user	(Liaw and
Forest (RF)	structured weak learners	pseudo-absence	Wiener, 2002)
	comprising identically		
	distributed random		
	vectors where each tree		
	contributes to a		
	prediction.		
Genetic Algorithm	Infers correlations	Presence,	(Stockman et
for Rule Set	between environmental	machine pseudo-	al., 2006)
Prediction	layers representing known	absence	
(GARP)	species localities and a set	(background)	
	of biotic and abiotic		
	parameters based on		
	defined rule sets		
Maximum Entropy	Uses species presence	Presence,	(Phillips et al.,
(Maxent)	locations and a set of	machine pseudo-	2006)
	environmental predictors	absence	
	to predict species	(background)	

# Table 2-3: Machine learning algorithms

	distribution through		
	maximum antrony density		
	estimation.		
Artificial Neural	A relatively later	Presence.	(Lek and
Networks (ANN)	introduction to species	user pseudo-	( Guégan 1999)
	distribution modelling	absence	Guegan, 1999)
	involving a network of	absence	
	simple processing		
	elements (artificial neu-		
	rons) that can exhibit		
	complex global behaviour		
	like site selection of a		
	suitable habitat based on		
	numerous environmental		
	variables determined by		
	the links between the		
	neurons and associated		
	functions.		
Support Vector	Uses a functional	Presence	(Drake et al.,
Machines (SVM)	relationship known as a	only	2006)
	kernel to map data onto a		
	new hyperspace in which		
	complicated patterns can		
	be more simply		
	represented.		

The selection of an ENM algorithm to apply in a specific project is not straight forward as it is difficult to identify one that should be universally applicable (Brotons *et al.*, 2004). However, the type and quality of data available generally determine which modelling method will produce the best result (Steenkamp, 2013). In the context of this study, where there was no absence data, ENM of BRT algorithm was selected relative to other algorithms. Details of BRT is given in the next subsection.

#### 2.4.4 ENM algorithm, boosted regression trees (BRT)

Boosted regression trees is an ENM algorithm that combines the strengths regression trees and boosting to build many simple decision trees adaptively (Elith and Leathwick, 2017). The BRT function (**Equation 1**) (Friedman, 2002), was developed as gradient descent boosting algorithm to estimate the weak learners.

$$f(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{m} f_{m(\mathbf{x})} = \sum_{m} \beta_{m(b(\mathbf{x};\mathbf{y}_{m}))}$$
(1)

In the function,  $f_x$  is the linear predictor with  $\beta_m$  as the scaler representing the intercept, and  $\beta_y$ , the coefficient values quantifying the linear effects of xy covariates. Function  $b(x;y_m)$  represents individual trees with  $y_m$  as variables split values at each node and their predicted values. The  $\beta_m$  also represents the weights given to the nodes each tree in the collection and determines how predictions from the individual tree are combined. Gradient boosting involves two step approximation of the loss function through estimation of  $y_m$  via least square regression followed by estimation of  $\beta_m$ .

The BRT relative advantages and limitations are elucidated by Elith and Leathwick (2017) that: it handles different types of predictor variables and accommodates missing data; it has no need for prior data transformation or elimination of outliers; it can fit complex nonlinear relationships and automatically handles interaction effects between predictors; it is able to select relevant variables; and it has predictive performance that is superior to most traditional modelling methods. However, if samples are sparse in regions of the data space, its fitted functions can be noisy.

Performance of BRT model can be improved by calibrating its hyperparameters including bagging fraction, tree complexity and learning rate. Bagging fraction introduces randomness into the model by defining the proportion of data drawn at random from the original data at each step thus improving performance and reducing over-fitting. Tree complexity defines the number of nodes for each tree. Learning rate varies the contribution of each tree added to the model and is inversely proportional to the number of trees required; smaller learning rate and larger number of trees are preferable under several observations and computational time available. At least 1000 trees are enough for model fitting (Elith *et al.*, 2008). In addition, BRT has in built

function to reduce variables dimensionality and only fit those with relative important contribution while excluding non-important predictors when fitting trees. Recently, BRT has been considered a dominant algorithm for mapping transmission risk of infectious zoonoses (Carlson, 2020). It has been applied in previous studies in predicting the distribution of Dengue and Ebola in Colombia and Africa (Ashby *et al.*, 2017; Pigott *et al.*, 2014) and specifically of anthrax in China and Globally (Carlson *et al.*, 2019; Chen *et al.*, 2016). In studies comparing BRT to RF and GAM, BRT produced the best performance (Hollings *et al.*, 2017; Martínez-Rincón *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.4.5 ENM predictor variables

Anthrax outbreaks are associated with climatic factors of alternating heavy rainfall and drought, and high temperatures greater than  $16^{\circ}$ C (Parker, Ron *et al.*, 2002). Temperatures above  $15^{\circ}$ C has been confirmed to favour multiplication and vegetative growth cycles of anthrax that can result in outbreaks (Van Ness, 1971). Fasanella *et al.* (2010a) in their laboratory culture study, further details that *B. anthracis* grows well in ordinary medium under aerobic or microaerophilic conditions, at temperature between 12 °C and 44 °C, with optimal growth at around 37 °C. Rainfall after long period of dry season is associated with a burst of growth of *B. anthracis* and spores are exposed to grazing animals feeding on newly emergent vegetation (Turnbull, 2008).

Soil characteristics and properties are also associated with anthrax persistence such that soils, rich in calcium and organic matter with a pH above 6.0 favour multiplication and vegetative growth cycles of anthrax (Van Ness, 1971). *B. anthracis* isolates were found to thrive in high calcium and high pH soils with optimal growth at soil pH of between 7.0 and 7.4 (Smith *et al.*, 2000). Vertisols soil types contain alkaline pH and calcium carbonate hence suitable for germination and sporulation of *B. anthracis* (Carlson *et al.*, 2019; Virmani *et al.*, 1982). Concentration of organic carbon in the soils was also found to play part in spore persistence (Chen *et al.*, 2016).

Landscape characteristics play a significant role in supporting environmental reservoir and propagation of anthrax. This is seen in coverage of meadow, coverage of typical grassland, topsoil, elevation from a niche study in China (Chen *et al.*, 2016). Land type and vegetation are also identified as useful factors of anthrax environmental niche (Steenkamp, 2013). Steenkamp (2013) further reports low lying depressions with stagnant water, dry riverbed and hillside seeps, where organic matter accumulates during run-off to provide favourable conditions for persistence of anthrax spores. Water points where animals congregate during water scarcity periods, serve as anthrax exposure points as they might be already contaminated with anthrax spores (Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002).

While transmission of *B. anthracis* is largely mediated through environmental factors, socio-economic variations in affected communities exacerbate its transmission (Sitali *et al.*, 2017). Further, a study in Lesotho found out that environmental and socio-economic factors have influence on the temporal and spatial pattern of anthrax outbreaks (Lepheana *et al.*, 2018). Socio-economic related factors such as human development index and cattle density have been correlated to anthrax suitability (Kracalik *et al.*, 2013; Walsh *et al.*, 2018). Cattle density, though not a socio-economic variable per see, reflects the size of household livestock assets in an area and livestock keeping contributes to household income and welfare and to social and economic stability in rural areas (Ouma *et al.*, 2003; Waters-Bayer and Bayer, 1992). Hence, cattle density has been considered as proxy for evaluating the role of socio-economic factors (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2015).

The risk factors discussed above provide data for model predictor variables. Climatic, environmental and social-economic variables or proxies have been widely explored in various distribution predictive modelling to determine niche suitability for *B. anthracis* (Blackburn *et al.*, 2015; Hollings *et al.*, 2017; Joyner, 2010; Kracalik *et al.*, 2017; Mullins *et al.*, 2011; Mwakapeje *et al.*, 2019; Walsh *et al.*, 2019)

### 2.4.6 ENM evaluation

Assessing the model accuracy or performance is imperative in ENM. This is achieved via model evaluation which enables estimation of the generalization accuracy (Qiao *et al.*, 2019). There exist several methods for ENM evaluation each functioning in a slightly different manner including Cohen's Kappa Statistic, True Skill Statistics

(TSS) and Area Under the Curve (AUC). Cohen's Kappa Statistic a widely used measure for the performance of models generating presence–absence predictions derived by a function based on sensitivity and specificity (Allouche *et al.*, 2006). Sensitivity being the true presence normalized by sum of true presence and false absence; specificity, the true absence normalized by sum of true absence and false presence. Its drawback is being inherently dependent on prevalence which introduces statistical artefacts to estimates of predictive accuracy. True Skill Statistic is prevalence independent measure of performance measurement for SDMs where predictions are expressed as presence–absence maps. However, evaluations based on TSS may be misleading as high maximum TSS may not guarantee accurate prediction and requires a threshold (Shabani *et al.*, 2018).

AUC was considered for use in this study and is discussed in more details. It is the most prominent in evaluating ENMs ability to predict the observed distributions (Peterson et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2015; Yackulic et al., 2013). AUC is estimated from of receiver operating characteristics curve (ROC) as a plot of false positive rate (FPR) on the x-axis against true positive rate (TPR) on the y-axis. AUC-ROC curve aids in visualizing how a classification model has performed (Figure 2-5). Where: TPR (sensitivity), is true positive (presence) normalized by sum of true positive and false negative (absence); True negative rate (TNR) (specificity) is the true negative normalized by sum of true negative and false positive. FPR is the inverse of TNR, (1-TNR). AUC measures model success by maximizing true positive predictions and minimizing false positive predictions such that its value less or close to 0.5 indicates poor model performance, while closer to 1 indicates closeness to good prediction (Narkhede, 2018). It possesses the advantage of being independent of subjective thresholds but also has been criticized in its model accuracy evaluation such as assigning equal weights to omission and commission errors as well as ignoring predicted probability (Guisan and Thuiller, 2005; Lobo et al., 2008; Peterson et al., 2008).


Figure 2-5: Receiver Operator Characteristic curve. (Source: Ekelund, 2011)

# 2.5 Anthrax and climate change

Climate change can define livestock-human interface areas, the meeting of infected host, transmission season, the persistence and timing of an anthrax outbreak (Kangbai and Momoh, 2017). Global climate change has been reported and the direct consequences are changes in temperature, precipitation patterns and other climate variables (McMichael et al., 2004). Changes in air temperature have substantial effects on the epidemiology of infectious diseases such as anthrax (Bett *et al.*, 2017). Intensity of precipitation and global average temperatures are projected to increase and subsequently increased prevalence of a number of infectious diseases including anthrax (Maksimović et al., 2017). Climate changes and its extremes also cause shifts in vegetation cover which influences anthrax transmission (Walsh et al., 2019), such that: animals feeding on short vegetation close to the soil are likely to ingest spores (Turnbull, 2008); and when animals consume dry and prickly vegetation, they surfer gastrointestinal (GI) tract lesions which increase chances of the ingested spores entering their bodies and causing infection (Turner et al., 2013). Cumulative weather extremes (prolonged droughts or rains) provide spatial and temporal factors for exposure and infection risk, and for triggering the onset of large outbreaks (Hampson et al., 2011). In Bosnia-Herzegovina, for example, changes in heavy springtime rains with heavy flooding, and a hot dry summer caused re-emergence of anthrax outbreaks in a region that had been free of the disease for more than two decades (Maksimović

*et al.*, 2017). Kenya has experienced increased climate change in the form of rising temperatures, changing rainfall patterns and increased frequency of droughts and flooding in the recent past (Njoka *et al.*, 2016). This has an impact on anthrax outbreaks as a study on climate change on livestock diseases in Kenya found marked associations between anthrax outbreaks and changes in humidity, temperature; and rainy seasons (Moenga, 2010)

To examine how climate changes might influence the spatial distributions of infectious diseases over time, future global climate projections developed under different scenarios are applied (Pearson *et al.*, 2006). Such climate future projections are estimated through radiative forcing climate scenarios represented by Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) (Van Vuuren *et al.*, 2011). The climate scenarios provide four possible range of radiative forcing values in the year 2100 of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and atmospheric concentrations that can be applied to examine future climate change influences. In addition these climate scenarios include: stringent mitigation scenario, RCP2.6, where emissions peak in radiative forcing at  $\approx 3 \text{ W/m}^2$  then declines before 2100; intermediate scenario, RCP 4.5, of stabilization without overshoot pathway to 4.5 W/m<sup>2</sup> at stabilization after 2100; intermediate scenario, RCP 6.0, of stabilization without overshoot pathway to 6 W/m<sup>2</sup> at stabilization after 2100; unmitigated very high GHG emissions scenario, RCP 8.5, with rising radiative forcing pathway leading to 8.5 W/m<sup>2</sup> by 2100 (Van Vuuren *et al.*, 2011).

### 2.6 Anthrax and vulnerability

Anthrax burden is felt by vulnerable groups through health and socio-economic impacts. To mitigate this, vulnerability assessment is necessary to feed pragmatic decision-making processes in public health programs and disease surveillance strategies (Kienberger and Hagenlocher, 2014). Spatially explicit vulnerability assessment is important for surveillance prioritization and intervention strategies, as it incorporates additional information of other important dimensions on population to a risk map (Hongoh *et al.*, 2011). A risk map (e.g., for a disease) provides important information on spatial distribution, but may be incomplete for making decisions in complex situations that cover socio-economic and demographic dimensions.

Comprehensive information can only be achieved through integrating spatially explicit methods that include the complex relationship of factors that contribute to socioeconomic vulnerability.

Vulnerability is defined as the lack of resilience to uncertain hazardous events (Rass, 2006). It is not due to a single cause but a product of intersecting social processes precipitating inequalities in socio-economic status and exposures among different social groups geographically over time (Cutter et al., 2003; Field et al., 2014). While vulnerability has its roots in the study of natural hazards, it has recently received intensive research interests in several different domains including environment, socioeconomic and health (Begun, 1993; Cutter et al., 2003; Falzon et al., 2019; Janssen and Ostrom, 2006; Sutherst, 2004; Turner et al., 2003). This implies that vulnerability is perceived in many ways by various scholarly communities (Füssel, 2007). In the environment domain, vulnerability is viewed as a means to describe and analyse the exposure and coping mechanisms of groups or individuals to environmental risks (Brouwer et al., 2007), while in the health domain, vulnerability is seen as the predisposition to be adversely affected by the burden of disease or risk from the likelihood of disease occurrence (Hagenlocher and Castro, 2015). In social domain. vulnerability is seen as the set of socio-economic factors that define community's ability to cope with a hazard (Brooks, 2003; Brouwer et al., 2007). Indeed, after exposure to a hazard, the social impacts are felt disproportionately by communities depending on their social inequalities (Cutter et al., 2003). Vulnerability to anthrax risk can be viewed in the context of ecology and epidemiology "disease triangle" of the host (e.g., human), Pathogen (B. anthracis), and environment (physical, biological and socio-economic) (Sutherst, 2004). The spread of anthrax is exacerbated by limited knowledge (augmented with attitudes and beliefs) and low income that see humans get exposed to infection risk through skinning, slaughtering dead animals or consuming infected meat (Opare et al., 2000; Patil, 2010). This scenario has been observed in Kenya and elsewhere in anthrax endemic countries (Chirundu et al., 2009; Muturi et al., 2018; Opare et al., 2000). Risk of exposure to anthrax and subsequent vulnerabilities are heightened on the poor who mostly reside in rural settings in these endemic countries (Vieira et al., 2017).

The prerequisite of fully capturing vulnerability is to develop a framework of risk factors and their associated measures (Moore *et al.*, 2017). However, developing robust and credible measures incorporating diverse methods encompassing perceptions of risk remains a challenge (Adger, 2006). Different thematic areas bring their conceptual framework, which address similar problems and processes in different semantics to the study of vulnerability. Hence, there is no correct or best conceptualization of vulnerability that would fit all assessment contexts (Füssel, 2007). In their literature review, Moore *et al* (2017) identified seven (7) general factors influencing infectious diseases related vulnerability as demographic, health care, public health, disease dynamics, political and economic. From the social perspective, major factors identified to influence vulnerability include socio-economic status, education, population growth, rural/urban residence, medical services, beliefs and customs, and political power and representation (Cutter *et al.*, 2003).

There exists several approaches of vulnerability assessment from household to population-level (Moret, 2014). However, the understanding of vulnerability in terms of biophysical and social perspectives is necessary to overcome the confusion arising from these different thematic perspectives (Brooks, 2003). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) frames vulnerability as a function of climate variations to which a system is exposed, its sensitivity, and its adaptive capacity (Mackay, 2008). This framework tend to reconcile biophysical vulnerability and social vulnerability (Brooks, 2003). Exposure is taken as the likelihood of humans and their environment getting affected by a dangerous climatic hazard at a location; sensitivity (susceptibility) as the predisposition of humans and their environment suffering harm due to disadvantageous climatic conditions and relative weaknesses as a result of physical, ecological, socio-economic, cultural, and institutional issues; adaptive capacity (resilience) as the enabling ability for societal response through access to or mobilization of resources to respond in coping or absorbing the exposure impacts. The IPCC framework has been widely adapted in different thematic settings, including public health (de Sherbinin, 2014; MOVE, 2020; Parker et al., 2019; Sutherst, 2004; Wandiga et al., 2010). Indeed, the IPCC climate change-oriented vulnerability framework can be adapted for public health context because public health and climate

change-related vulnerabilities share similar perspectives in different terms (Ebi *et al.*, 2006). Several studies assessing diseases-related vulnerability have been undertaken in East Africa and by extension Kenya mostly covering vector-borne diseases (malaria) and zoonosis (RVF), but none so far is reported for anthrax (Hagenlocher and Castro, 2015; Kienberger and Hagenlocher, 2014; Murithi *et al.*, 2011; Onyango *et al.*, 2016; Wandiga *et al.*, 2010).

This study adapted the IPCC vulnerability framework for socio-economic vulnerability assessment concerning potential anthrax risk in Kenya where: exposure relate to the dangerous hazard (anthrax risk), precipitated by background environmental conditions and their changes, with negative impacts on communities (or sections); sensitivity reflects the weakness or predisposition of a community (or sections) to be unable to influence their response to the anthrax risk; and adaptive capacity aid a community (or sections) to cope or adapt to reduce impacts or rebound after the consequences of anthrax risk. **Figure 2-6** shows the adapted IPCC framework for estimating anthrax vulnerability.



Figure 2-6: Framework for estimating anthrax vulnerability. Adapted from IPCC framework (Mackay, 2008)

### 2.6.1 GIS-based multi-criteria decision analysis (GIS-MCDA)

Vulnerability to environmental hazards vary geographically over time and space among social groups. Hence its assessment involves the integration of multiple spatially explicit socio-economic and biophysical criteria to derive its patterns (Cutter et al., 2003; De Sherbinin et al., 2015). Given the potentially large set of feasible alternatives and multiple incommensurate evaluation, decision making can be complex considering the trade-offs between the social, economic, environmental and political criteria (Kiker et al., 2005). This necessitates objective approaches to evaluate these multiple conflicting criteria. Multicriteria decision analysis (MCDA) also referred to as multiple-criteria decision-making (MCDM) makes available the practical methods to evaluates multiple conflicting criteria for making informed decisions (Kiker et al., 2005). Spatial decision problems apply spatial or GIS-based multicriteria decision analysis (GIS-MCDA), which transforms and combines geographical data and decision-maker's preferences to derive decision support spatial information (Malczewski, 2006). The principle of GIS-MCDA in determining spatial vulnerability due to infectious diseases has been widely applied (Devarakonda et al., 2021; Hongoh et al., 2011; Michel, 2018). The results of GIS-MCDA in vulnerability assessment are usually vulnerability severity maps. Several vulnerability maps for east Africa and specifically Kenya have been produced for Rift Valley Fever and Malaria but none for anthrax (Hagenlocher and Castro, 2015; Kienberger and Hagenlocher, 2014; Mulefu et al., 2016; Murithi et al., 2011).

The criteria used in MCDA often have differentiated weights of contribution instead of equal ones, necessitating a determination of the relative weights. There are over 100 different MCDA criteria weighting methods that can be broadly categorised into direct (non-comparative subjective scaling or ranking) and indirect (objective comparative approaches where weights are derived from theories and mathematical model) (Guarini *et al.*, 2018; Odu, 2019). The most frequently applied methods include Analytical Hierarchical Process (AHP), Multi-attribute Utility Theory (MAUT), Elimination and Choice Translating Reality (ELETRE), Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS) and Simple Multi-attribute Ranking Technique (SMART). The methods strengths and limitations are extensively elucidated in (Velasquez and Hester, 2013). The AHP is an easy-to-use method with pairwise criteria comparison hierarchal structure that can easily adjust to fit different sized problems with minimal data. However, due to the nature of comparisons for

rankings and the addition of alternatives at the end of the process it could present final rank reversal. The MAUT incorporates risk preferences and uncertainty into multi criteria decision. Its major advantage is taking uncertainty into account but it requires incredible amount of data in its every procedural step. The ELETRE deals with outranking relations to mitigate ranking alternatives from the best to worst through pairwise comparisons among alternatives considering each criterion separately. It takes into account uncertainty and vagueness but its processes and outcomes are not easy to explain. The TOPSIS method applies a Euclidean distance technique to rank preferences by similarity to the ideal solution but the use of Euclidean distance does not consider the correlation of attributes. The SMART is the simplest variant of MAUT method that has the ability to convert weights into actual numbers by permitting a hierarchical tree shaped structure of criteria. It is simple and allows easy intuitive weight allocation but its framework is complicated. The decision on selection of an appropriate weighting method is a challenging task given each method has its strengths and limitations. The AHP was selected for this study for being easy to implement and not being data intensive. It is further detailed in the next section.

# 2.6.2 Analytic hierarchy process (AHP)

AHP is a general theory of measurement applied to compute ratio scales from both discrete and continuous paired comparisons based on actual measurements, preferences or feelings (Saaty, 1987). It employs a nonlinear hierarchical framework to derive the importance of each criterion relative to the other criteria (Abdelkarim *et al.*, 2020). It has been widely applied and specifically in assessing disease vulnerability (Ali and Ahmad, 2019; Federici *et al.*, 2016; Lima *et al.*, 2018). The steps of AHP follow: 1) defining the problem; 2) structuring criteria and sub-criteria; 3) developing hierarchical pair-wise comparison matrices based on the fundamental scale (**Table 2-4**), calculating eigenvalue, eigenvector, consistency index, and consistency ratio; 4) weighting all elements through estimation of the relative weights, checking the consistency, and obtaining the overall rating.

Importance	Explanation
1	Equal importance
3	One of the criteria is of moderate importance with respect to the other
5	One of the criteria is of high importance with respect to the other
7	One of the criteria is of very high importance with respect to the other
9	One of the criteria is extremely important with respect to the other
2-4-6-8	Intermediate values used between the previous weights in numerical comparison

 Table 2-4: The Saaty's fundamental rating scale

# 2.6.3 Vulnerability analysis (GIS-MCDA and AHP)

After the multi-criteria layers are standardised, they are subjected to analytical hierarchical process to assign relative weights before the now standardised and weighted criteria layers are subjected to spatial analysis of weighted overlays to derive the final vulnerability layer. **Figure 2-7** shows this framework of integrating GIS-MCDA and AHP in generating a vulnerability map.



Figure 2-7: GIS-MSDA and AHP in generating vulnerability map

### 2.7 Summary and Knowledge Gaps

Anthrax is an important zoonotic disease globally that affects mostly herbivores and humans even though carnivorous and omnivorous get infected with moderate resistance. Anthrax has recently attracted global security concerns as an agent for bioterrorism. The cycle of anthrax infection is influenced by environmental factors however, human behaviours and socio-economic status can exacerbate its transmissions. Despite the various studies undertaken, there is limited knowledge on spatial ecology of anthrax and that little agreement exists on the roles played by these factors in the incidence of the disease. Furthermore, different strains of *B. anthracis* thrive in different geographical environments.

Anthrax is also a problem Kenya where there have been recurrent outbreaks since 1957 affecting livestock, human and wildlife. Anthrax outbreaks have negatively impacted public health, economies and welfare of the poor livestock keepers in Kenya becoming the highly prioritized zoonotic disease. Despite the confirmed anthrax outbreaks in Kenya, there is still paucity of knowledge on anthrax spatial ecology or the specific geography of favouring environmental conditions or factors that promote its long-term survival and intermittent outbreaks. Furthermore, there is weak surveillance systems, and poor anthrax prevention and control programs in Kenya partly attributed to limited information. Anthrax spatial distribution and the promoting risk factors have been studied in other countries including neighbouring Tanzania, but none has been undertaken for the entire Kenya. As such, there is lack of anthrax risk map for the entire Kenya to aid in policy actions on surveillance and control programs.

Spatial distribution of anthrax can be determined through Ecological Niche Modeling (ENM) that estimates suitable environmental habitats for a species (such as *B. anthracis*) from known occurrence locations. ENM is considered a reliable method to identify potential anthrax outbreak risk areas for targeted surveillance strategies and has been applied in varied environmental conditions from several countries in including Africa, USA and China. These studies mostly applied occurrence data from passive surveillance, as opposed to active surveillance, which might present data

quality challenges. While some isolated ENMs on anthrax have been undertaken for some specific counties in Kenya, no study covered the whole country.

Global climate changes are projected to alter prevalence and geographic ranges of infectious diseases such as anthrax. The prevalence and geographic ranges of anthrax in Kenya are expected to change due to recently experienced increased rising temperatures, changing rainfall patterns and increased frequency of droughts and flooding. To examine how climate changes might influence the spatial distributions of infectious diseases over time, future global climate projections (e.g., RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5) developed under different scenarios are applied. There exists no spatial niche study for entire Kenya associating anthrax distribution to climatic changes.

While spatial distribution of anthrax provides proxy information on the risk, it may be incomplete for making decisions in complex situations that cover socio-economic and demographic dimensions. Thus, vulnerability assessment is recommended for surveillance prioritization and intervention strategies because it incorporates additional information of other important dimensions on population to a risk map. There exists no socio-economic vulnerability assessment map on exposure to anthrax risk in Kenya.

### 2.7.1 Conceptual framework

Environmental, climatic and socio-economic variables are associated with survival and persistence of anthrax. They serve as independent variables directly associated with anthrax occurrence (as dependent variables) in defining anthrax distribution under current and future climate change scenarios. There are moderating and mitigating variables which somewhat indirectly influences possible anthrax occurrences. Anthrax distribution serve as a proxy to anthrax risk in defining socioeconomic vulnerability associating with socio-economical and health factors. **Figure 2-8** shows the conceptual framework of the relationship between independent, dependent, moderating and intervening variables.



Figure 2-8: Direct and indirect variables in anthrax distribution and vulnerability.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

### **3.0 METHODOLOGY**

#### 3.1 Study area

The study area covered the entire Kenyan boundary. Kenya is divided into two major levels of administrative units, county and sub-county giving 47 counties and 290 sub-counties. A county is made up of two (2) or more sub counties while a sub county is are made up of a varying number of wards between three (3) to nine (9) wards. The terrain of Kenya varies from the lowest point at sea level on the Indian ocean to the highest point at Mt Kenya ( $\approx$ 5,197 meters) and comprise low plains that rise into central highlands bisected by the Great Rift Valley. **Figure 3-1** shows the map of Kenya and its elevation.



**Figure 3-9:** Map of Kenya showing administrative units and their elevations. Defined regions 1 – 9 arbitrarily represent important regions for describing the predicted distribution of anthrax: 1) Lake Victoria basin; 2) Southwestern; 3) western; 4) central; 5) Southern 6) Eastern; 7) Coastal; 8) Northeastern; 9) Northern. (Source: author)

The longterm climate conditions in Kenya vary from humid tropical, along the coast to temperate and sub-tropical inland and hot and dry in arid and semi-arid areas in the mainland areas. Generally most parts of Kenya experience a bimodal seasonal pattern with the long rains season observed between March and June, and short rains between September and December (World Bank Group, 2021). Mean temperatures generally vary with elevation, although there has been increased variability in temperature in the recent years, with estimated increase of 1.0 °C since 1960 at an average rate of 0.21°C per decade (World Bank Group, 2021). Mean annual precipitation has been recorded at 699.00 mm between 1991 and 2020 and its distribution has become more intense and less predictable (McSweeney *et al.*, 2008; World Bank Group, 2021).

Kenya is among the developing countries with 46% of the population living below the poverty line (Ikiara,2009). Livestock production in Kenya constitutes 47% of the agricultural GDP where arid and semi-arid areas (ASALs) boast of high pastoral beef livestock production. In contrast, high potential areas support dairy livestock farming due to readily available fodder and pastures (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2017). Most poor livestock keepers reside in remote and rural areas (Thornton *et al.*, 2003)

#### 3.2 Study design

This study was cross-sectional on anthrax outbreaks concerning risk factors based on retrospective outbreaks records, sporadic outbreaks field characterization and active outbreaks surveillance. Historical data were based on regular validated outbreak reports from the Directorate of Veterinary Services (DVS) covering 2011 to 2017. Field characterisation was undertaken following spontaneous anthrax outbreaks that were reported between 2017 and 2018. Active surveillance was undertaken at the ward level in the randomly selected 18 study counties between 2019 and 2020 through mobile telephone transmission. The sampling process for selecting the counties for active surveillance was through:1) random selection of four sub-counties within each of the five collapsed agroecological zones (AEZs) of humid, high and medium potential, semi-arid, arid, very arid, and desert. 2) Identification of the counties where

each of these 20 sub-counties fell. To increase the geographical spread of the study the rest of the sub-counties were included in the selected county in an oversampling strategy. Twenty (20) counties were anticipated, but four sub-counties fell in two separate counties in the process of random sampling. Therefore, the final number of counties dropped from 20 to 18. **Figure 3-2** shows the 18 study counties, their AEZ and the anthrax occurrences.



**Figure 3-10:** Study counties anthrax events and their Agroecological zones (AEZs). White dots, outbreaks from retrospective records; black dots, outbreaks from field characterisation; grey dots, outbreaks from active surveillance. (Source: author)

#### 3.3 Prediction of potential anthrax distribution

Prediction of the distribution of anthrax was done by applying Ecological Niche Model (ENM). ENM fits occurrence data as responses against several predictor variables. These are detailed as follows:

#### **3.3.1 Occurrence data**

Variables from occurrence data served as the model response. A database of georeferenced anthrax outbreaks data was constructed from retrospective records (n = 86) covering 2011 to 2017; sporadic outbreaks field characterization (n=13) covering 2017 to 2018; and active surveillance data (n=119) covering 2019 to 2020. These data were structured into comma-separated file in Microsoft Excel (2016) and converted to GIS format in QGIS 3.16 (QGIS Development Team, 2014).

# **3.3.2 Predictor variable selection**

Publicly available spatially-explicit climatic, environmental and socio-economic data, documented to influence anthrax spatial distribution, were obtained from online repositories and additional data generated from spatial analyses (**Appendix 1**, **Appendix 2**). The data were subset to the Kenyan boundary and re-sampled to 250 m resolution and extracted as candidate predictor variables (all available variables before selection of final model predictor variables). The spatial analyses were done under QGIS and R 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2018) with packages "rgdal", "raster", "sp" (Bivand *et al.*, 2013; Hijmans, 2020; Pebesma, 2018).

The candidate predictor variables were subjected to variable selection process to reduce dimensionality and multicollinearity through Variable Inflation Factors (VIF) at a correlation cut-off of VIF < 10. VIF measures the amount of multicollinearity in multiple regression variables by regressing the variables against each other, VIF values, greater than one, indicate coefficient variance higher than expected with zero collinearity (Thompson *et al.*, 2017). Choice of VIF cut-off threshold is debated by most researchers however, values above ten are generally considered highly correlated (O'brien, 2007). In the process of deriving the predictor variables, some collinearity was expected, and thus applying VIF <10 was considered appropriate in achieving a parsimonious model. The VIF process was achieved with R package 'usdm' (Naimi, 2015), which yielded the final predictor variables.

### **3.3.3 Model building and evaluation**

Presences (n=178) were retained after spatial thinning to ensure that there was 1:1 presence point to predictor pixel overlap to limit autocorrelation. An equal number of pseudo-absence points as absences were randomly generated at least 5km Euclidian distance away from the presence points to represent true absence as possible. This is

recommended for optimal model performance for classification techniques (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012). The presence and absence points were combined, and predictor variables were extracted through spatial analysis raster value extraction to construct model variable space with "raster" and "sp" R packages. The variables were partitioned into 75% for model training and 25% for model evaluation. They were thereafter fitted in ENM model of BRT algorithm of 'gbm' R package with 'gbm.step' extension (Ridgeway et al., 2013). The "gbm.step" hyperparameters were calibrated to obtain the best exploratory predictive performance under different bagging fraction (bag.fraction), learning rate (learning.rate), tree complexity (tree.complexity), maximum tree (max.trees) based on the minimum predictive error. The final 'gbm.step' was set to fit the training data with tree.complexity = 5, learning.rate = 0.001, bag.fraction = 0.5, max.trees = 2500. Model predictions comprising 100 runs, was thereafter performed yielding 100 predictions which were averaged to obtain the final anthrax distribution prediction. In addition, confidence interval maps at lower, 2.5%, and upper, 97.5%, were generated. Each model run performance was evaluated using AUCROC (area under the curve of the receiver operating characteristics) curve as it is the most frequently preferred among ENM prediction evaluation methods. AUC for each experiment was realized through "ROCR" R Package (Sing et al., 2007), and results averaged across all experiments to obtain the overall AUC metric. Final predictions were dichotomized as high risk (or not) at Youden index threshold. Youden Index is a frequently applied summary measure of the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve that enables the selection of an optimal threshold value (Fluss et al., 2005). The importance of the contribution of each predictor variable to anthrax distribution was derived via influence plots. Also, the graphs of marginal influence for each predictor variable on the mean prediction probability when other variables are kept at their average was derived via partial dependency plots (PDP) with "pdp" R package (Greenwell, 2017). The R code for the ENM processes is given in Appendix 3.

## **3.3.4 Hypothesis testing**

Logistic regression model was applied to test any significant association between the dependent variables and the independent variables with significance level set at 0.05

Where: if any of the Null hypothesis that a regression coefficient = 0 is valid; the corresponding variable is statistically insignificant in the logistic regression model. Any p-value for a variable less than 0.05 is considered significant. Logistic regression model was implemented through General Linear Model (GLM) of binomial (link = "logit") under R 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2018).

# 3.3.5 Specific predictions under current and climate change scenarios

The preceding methodology pathway of data preparation, variable selection, model building and evaluation was applied with different selected predictor variables in modelling for the first and the second study objectives: 1) determining the relationship between selected environmental and socio-economic factors to the spatial distribution of anthrax; 2) predicting the influence of climate change on future spatial distribution of anthrax. In the first modelling case, environmental and socio-economic candidate data (Appendix 1) (n= 41) were processed and subjected to VIF variable selection retaining 18 final independent variables (see the variable selection process in the preceding subsection 3.3.2). The selected variables were fitted and ran in the BRT modelling and evaluation process. In the second case, only bioclimatic (current and future projection), elevation and slope data (Appendix 2) (n=71) were used because other data lack future scenario data while elevation (used to derive slope) remains constant into the future. The current climate data covered (1970-2000) while future scenarios were projections for Mid-century (2041 - 2070)data, africlim\_ensemble\_v3\_[base] (Platts et al., 2015). The data were subjected to VIF variable selection retaining ten (10) final variables fitted for BRT modelling and evaluation process. The initial BRT model was run with the current climate variables. Thereafter, the resultant model was run separately for future scenarios, RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5, by substituting the current climate variables with the corresponding RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 variables. The two future scenarios were selected for modelling, to compare an intervention and a non-intervention scenario of GHG emissions. The number of human and livestock affected were estimated through spatial overlay of population density (Tatem, 2017) and livestock density (Gilbert et al., 2018) with the dichotomized current anthrax distribution.

### **3.4 Socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk**

Socio-economic vulnerability concerning potential anthrax risk were determined by first defining the vulnerability framework, obtaining and processing data to derive criteria, determining each relative criterion weight in the vulnerability framework, and finally undertaking weighted spatial overlays to derive the vulnerability and its domain maps.

### **3.4.1 Vulnerability framework**

The IPCC AR4 vulnerability framework (**Equation 2**) was adapted to assess the socioeconomic vulnerability due to potential anthrax distribution as proxy for anthrax risk. Vulnerability assessment was undertaken with the spatial criteria following GIS-MCDA workflow (**Figure 3-3**).

> V = E + S - A(2) (Where: V, vulnerability; E, exposure; S, sensitivity; A adaptive capacity)



Figure 3-11: Vulnerability assessment processes based on GIS-MCDA approach.

# 3.4.2 Vulnerability assessment data processing

Environmental, demographic, economic and health criteria documented to influence vulnerability due to diseases risk and specifically for anthrax were identified through literature review (Carlson *et al.*, 2019; Moore *et al.*, 2017; Opare *et al.*, 2000; Sitali *et al.*, 2017). Seven (7) datasets for the criteria spatially varying across the study area were obtained from online repositories (**Table 3-1**). Data selection was guided by data being publicly available, most current, spatially explicit, and having a coverage of the whole study area at high to medium spatial resolution. The seven datasets for the criteria were land use cover, population density, multidimensional poverty index, literacy level, income GINI index, severe wasting prevalence and infant mortality rate. Their relationships with anthrax risk are further described:

- Land use cover defines the cover or use on land at a given time period. Rural areas land covers refer to geographic areas located outside urban areas which have been documented to predominantly host poor livestock keepers in anthrax endemic countries and are associated with anthrax vulnerability (Carlson *et al.*, 2019; Chikerema *et al.*, 2013; Doganay and Metan, 2009);
- Population density is the number of people per square kilometre and the higher it is, the more increased susceptible people get exposed to *B. anthracis* contact thereby increasing human anthrax incidence risk (Kanankege *et al.*, 2019; Munang'andu *et al.*, 2012);
- 3) Multidimensional poverty index estimates the proportion of people per grid square living in poverty. High poverty levels have been associated with anthrax outbreaks as it may induce or determine human activities that exacerbate anthrax spread such as lack of required regular vaccination or consumption of infected meats (Chikerema *et al.*, 2012; Sitali *et al.*, 2017);
- 4) Literacy level estimates the proportion of women of age 15-49 per square grid that are classed as literate. Low literacy levels indicate lack of knowledge or awareness about anthrax risk caused by limited or no education and encouraging ill-informed behaviours towards handling of infected animals, consuming infected meat, disposal of carcasses or adherence to regular vaccination (Chikerema *et al.*, 2012; Sitali *et al.*, 2017);
- 5) Income GINI index estimates degree of income inequality among individuals or households that indicates the individual purchasing power. Low income may contribute to consumption of infected meat and limited or non-adherence to regular necessary livestock vaccinations (Carlson *et al.*, 2019; Opare *et al.*, 2000);
- Severe wasting prevalence indicates acute malnutrition due to acute food shortages. Acute food shortage may present lack of access to meat protein encouraging easy consumption of available anthrax infected meat (Lehman *et al.*, 2017);
- 7) Infant mortality rate indicates the number of children who die before their first birthday for every 1,000 live births and generally indicates status of physical health of a community. It may indicate poor or limited medical care in a community

leading to lack of treatment, which may increase human case-mortality or fatality rates (Li *et al.*, 2017).

Туре	Indicator	Description	Source	Spatial resolution	
Environment	Land use cover	Geographic areas located outside urban areas (2015).	Reclassed from Land use CCI land cover from: http://www.esa- landcover- cci.org/?q=node/164	300m	
Socio- economic/ demographic	Populatio n density	Estimated population density per grid square (2020).	https://www.worldpop. org/geodata/summary?i d=46997	1km	
	Multidime nsion Poverty Index	Multidimensional Poverty index of proportion of people per grid square living in poverty (2008).	https://www.worldpop. org/geodata/summary?i d=1262	1km	
	Literacy level	Proportion of women of age 15-49 per square grid that are classed as literate (2009)	https://www.worldpop. org/geodata/summary?i d=1261	1km	
	GINI index	A measure of income inequality per county (2015).	https://data.humdata.org /dataset/kenya-income- gini-coefficient-per- county		
Health	Severe Wasting prevalenc e	Global Under-5 Child growth Failure (2019).	https://cloud.ihme.wash ington.edu/s/Q7eg2wgd maSFbHt	5 km	
	Infant mortality rate	The number of children who die before their first birthday for every 1,000 live births (2015).	https://sedac.ciesin.colu mbia.edu/data/set/povm ap-global-subnational- infant-mortality-rates- v2/data-download	1 km	

 Table 3-5: List of indicators for vulnerability to anthrax outbreaks

To derive the criteria layers, data were converted to common grid referencing system (WGS 84) at a resolution of 250m (being the highest resolution) and transformed into standard indicators through reclassification based on four (4) quantile thresholds (i.e.,

 $\leq 0.25, >0.25 \leq 0.5, >0.5 \leq 0.75, >0.75$ ) for anthrax risk levels: 1) low risk; 2) moderate risk; and 3) high risk; 4) very high risk respectively, through QGIS symbology function. The criteria served as inputs to vulnerability domains where exposure was fed with predicted anthrax distribution (derived in sub section 3.2.1); sensitivity and adaptive capacity were input with the corresponding environment, demographic and health criteria. Criteria covering policy and institutions e.g., governance, health service provision were not included as there were no spatially explicit data available by the time of this study. **Table 3-2** shows the criteria per component, their quartile classes and ranks.

Component	Criteria	Quartile classes	Ranks	
Exposure	Predicted anthrax	<= 0.3	1	
	distribution	0.3 - 0.6	2	
	distribution	0.6 - 0.8	3	
		> 0.8	4	
Sensitivity	Population density	<=2.6	1	
		2.6 - 12.2	2	
		12.2 - 46.9	3	
		> 46.9	4	
	• Poverty index	< = 0.59	4	
		0.59 - 0.79	3	
		0.79 - 0.89	2	
		> 0.89	1	
	• Land cover use	1. Grassland/shrubs	4	
		2. Agriculture	3	
		3. Forest	2	
		4. Urban/water/bare areas	1	
	• Severe wasting prevalence	<= 0.65	1	
		0.65 - 1.10	2	
		1.10 - 1.91	3	
		> 1.91	4	
	Infant mortality rate	<= 31.81	1	
		31.81-33.62	2	
		33.68 - 34.62	3	
		34.62	4	
Adaptive	• Literacy level	<= 0.19	4	
aanaaitu	·	0.19 - 0.36	3	
capacity		0.36 - 0.39	2	
		> 0.69	1	
	Income GINI index	<= 35.35	4	
		35.35 - 42.40	3	
		42.40 - 49.45	2	
		> 49.45	1	

Table 3-6: Criteria class ranks based on defining anthrax risk level

#### **3.4.3** Determination of relative weights

Differentiated weights to individual criteria based on their considered strength of contribution to vulnerability to anthrax risk informed by literature review and expert elicitation was determined through analytical hierarchical process (AHP). The process was based on pair-wise comparisons of criteria as each criterion is compared to another criterion at the same time leading to pair-wise matrix comparison. The steps of AHP followed: 1) calculating and normalizing eigenvector of relative importance from matrix pair-wise comparisons; 2) determination of average of relative weights; 3) calculating consistency index and consistency ratio; and 4) obtaining the overall weights. The relative weight was intended to be achieved with consistency ratio (CR) < 0.1 as an indicator for acceptable limit of results consistency. Details of the AHP process are outlined in **Appendix 4**.

# 3.4.4 Spatial weighted overlay

The derived weights per criteria (in subsection 3.4.3 above) were used in weighting the individual criteria index within each vulnerability component. Additive aggregation index per component was derived from individual component criteria indices where applicable. Finally, spatial weighted overlay analysis via algebraic expression raster calculations using Equation (1) was performed in QGIS resulting in socio-economic vulnerability index map to predicted anthrax risk. Three scenarios of vulnerabilities were derived based on exposures from predicted anthrax distribution at current and future climate scenarios of RCP 4.5 and RCP8.5 with the assumption that the criteria for sensitivity and adaptive capacity will remain constant into the future. The derived vulnerability maps were further overlaid with the population density layer to estimate the number of people that can be potentially at risk. Further, the contribution of each criterion to the vulnerability index was evaluated by discarding one criterion at a time while keeping all other settings constant in deriving component composite indices then determining the interquartile ranges (IQR) as detailed in (Kienberger and Hagenlocher, 2014). The size of IQR indicates the influence of a criterion on the vulnerability index where the higher the IQR, the larger its relative contribution (Lung et al., 2013).

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

### **4.0 RESULTS**

### 4.1 Anthrax distribution prediction and the influencing factors

A number of candidate biophysical and socio-economic related variables showed significant association with anthrax occurrences at p < 0.05 hence, the Null hypothesis (H0) that: "specific environmental and socio-economic factors do not influence the potential spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya" was rejected at 95% confidence level. VIF process was subjected to 41 candidate variables to reduce multicollinearity and dimension selecting predictor variables (n=18) at VIF<10 for final BRT model fitting (**Table 4-1**).

Theme	Variable	Units		
Climatic	Annual Average Relative Humidity	%		
	Length of longest dry season	months		
	Temperature Seasonality	°c		
	Rainfall wettest month	mm		
	Palmer Drought Severity Index	index		
	Potential evapotranspiration	mm		
Edaphic	Calcic Vertisols	%		
	Clay content	mass fraction (%)		
	Haplic Calcisols	%		
	Haplic Vertisols	%		
	Silt content	mass fraction (%)		
	Soil organic carbon density	kg/m3		
	Soil pH	pН		
	Soil Moisture	m^3/m^3		
	Soil texture	factor		
Others	Cattle density	animals/90km <sup>2</sup>		
	Enhanced vegetation index	index		
	Slope	degrees		

**Table 4-7:** Final predictor variables fitted in BRT niche model

### 4.1.1 Predicted anthrax distribution

The predicted potential distribution of anthrax in Kenya was achieved with a test mean AUC of  $\approx 0.8 \pm 0.001$  (**Figure 4-1**). Areas predicted as being suitable for anthrax occurrence varied across Kenya from probability of very low (0) to very high (0.9). The proportion of the study area predicted with suitable probability for anthrax at cut-

off of Youden index > 0.75 was 22% of the study area. **Figure 4-2** presents the mean predicted anthrax distribution maps and its lower (2.5%) and upper (97.5%) confidence interval maps giving the certainty degree on the predicted distribution. The highly suitable regions were predominantly in the western, south-western, central and upper-eastern. Peripheral areas to these regions and along the coastal strip had suitability probabilities ranging between 0.4 and 0.6. Predicted lower suitability for anthrax outbreaks at probability < 0.2 were predominantly in the northern, northeastern and lower-eastern regions tending to coastal region. The number of humans affected is estimated as ~ 19,300,840 people/sq.km while that of livestock, as ~7,750,675 animals / sq.km.



**Figure 4-12:** Mean AUC-ROC curve from 100 model runs in anthrax distribution prediction.



**Figure 4-13:** Predicted geographic distribution of anthrax in Kenya. (*a*) mean prediction (*b*) the upper 97.5% and (*c*) the lower 2.5% confidence intervals. (Source: author)

The predicted high suitability areas were also observed in areas adjacent to wildlife national parks and game reserves including Nairobi, Nakuru, Mount Kenya, Mwea, Mount Elgon and Marsabit National Parks, and Masai Mara National Reserve (**Figure 4-3**).



**Figure 4-14:** Wildlife protected areas versus the predicted anthrax distribution in Kenya. (Source: author)

# **4.1.2 Relative influence of the variables**

Relative influence measures the importance or usefulness of a predictor variable in a model represented by the average increase in prediction error when a given predictor is permuted. Relative influence for each predictor variable to the distribution of anthrax across the 100 BRT experiments in order of importance ranked cattle density at the top and Haplic Calsisol as the last among the 18 predictor variables (**Figure 4-4**).



**Figure 4-15:** Influence of each final variables in the prediction of anthrax distribution in Kenya. *Error bars represent variability across an ensemble of 100 model runs.* 

# 4.1.3 Marginal effects of the variables

The marginal effects of each variable on anthrax prediction probability, while keeping all other variables at their average are illustrated by Partial Dependency Plots (PDP) (**Figure 4-5**). In general, the PDPs are non-linear, non-monotonic and exhibit thresholding for positive or negative correlation with anthrax prediction probability. Interpretations that can be drawn from these plots are as follows. Positive increase of variables with increasing prediction probability is observed for some variables.

Climatic factors: increased rainfall of the wettest month (between  $\approx 200$  and  $\approx 400$  mm); increased longest dry season above  $\approx 6$  months; low temperature seasonality ( $\approx 6 - \approx 10$  °c), which is in the range of limited seasonal temperature variation; high relative humidity above  $\approx 60\%$ ; drought severity window (between  $\approx -7$  and  $\approx -5$  indices), which is in the extreme range of dry season). Edaphic factors: high percentage of soil clay content ( $\approx 30 - \approx 45\%$ ); gently increased soil organic carbon below  $\approx 300$  kg/m<sup>3</sup>; low silt content less than  $\approx 20$  mass fraction (%); increasing Haplic vertisols; Calcic vertisols above  $\approx 6\%$ ; soil texture narrow window ( $\approx 4 - \approx 5$  factors) and above  $\approx 6$  factors; and Haplic Calsisols above 10%. Other factors: high cattle density above  $\approx 5000$  animals; enhanced vegetation index less than 0.3 (representing shrub and grassland); and low to gentle slopes below  $\approx 300$  degrees.

On the other hand, there are windows of negative correlation with increasing anthrax prediction probability observed with some variables including: Climatic (longest dry season between 3 and 6 months, evapotranspiration above  $\approx$ 1600mm, high drought severity above  $\approx$  -5 index); edaphic (low soil pH less than  $\approx$ 7, increasing soil moisture, silt content between  $\approx$ 20% and  $\approx$ 40%, soil texture below  $\approx$  4 and ( $\approx$ 5- $\approx$ 6) factors, Haplic Calcisols below  $\approx$ 10%); Others (enhance vegetation index above 0.3, high slopes above  $\approx$ 300 degrees).



**Figure 4-16:** Marginal effects on the mean prediction probability of potential anthrax distribution by each variable across the 100 model runs.

# 4.2 Anthrax distribution as influenced by multi climate changes

To select parsimonious non-correlated final model variables, VIF<10 was applied filtering the candidate current climatic variables (n=27) to nine (9) independent predictor variables finally fitted in the BRT model (Table 4-2). The influence of each the selected variables across 100 experiments ranked in order of importance, identified precipitation of wettest month as the top ranked and temperature seasonality as the last among the 10 selected predictor variables as shown in **Figure 4-6**.

Variable	Unit
1.Precipitation of wettest month	mm
2.Temperature Seasonality	°c
3.Annual temperature range	°c
4.Length of longest dry season	months
5.Potential evapotranspiration	mm
6.Mean precipitation of October	mm
7.Mean precipitation of December	mm
8.Mean precipitation of February	mm
9.Mean precipitation of July	mm
1(Slope	degrees

Table 4-8: Variables fitted for climate scenarios niche modelling



**Figure 4-17:** Influence of each final climate variables in the prediction of anthrax distribution in Kenya under current scenarios.

Error bars represent variability across an ensemble of 100 model runs.

#### 4.2.1 Predicted anthrax distribution under multi-climate scenarios

The mean prediction of the likely distribution of anthrax in Kenya based on 100 BRT replicate experiments from the current climate scenario was achieved with a mean test AUC of  $0.9 \pm 0.004$  (Figure 4-7). The subsequent predictions for future scenarios were projected to the geographical landscape based on the current BRT models. Figure 4-**8** shows the anthrax distribution prediction with probability from very low (0) to very high (0.93) for the three climate scenarios of current, RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5. For all the three scenarios, high prediction probability areas were identified in western, Lake Victoria, central, south-western, and eastern regions of Kenya while lower suitability areas were identified in northern and north-eastern regions. When dichotomised at Youden index of 0.75, (Figure 4-9), the predicted areas show highly suitable areas for anthrax for the three scenarios were predominantly restricted in: western, Lake Victoria and central regions of Kenya. The highly suitable areas generally expanded with the future scenarios with current at 36131 km<sup>2</sup>, RCP 4.5, 40012 km<sup>2</sup>, and RCP 8.5,  $39835 \text{ km}^2$ . Lower suitability at a probability of < 0.2 was predicted for the eastern region further from central Kenya, the southern eastern region bordering Tanzania, coastal region away from Indian ocean and northern as well as, and north-eastern region.



**Figure 4-18:** Mean AUC-ROC curve from 100 model runs in anthrax distribution prediction due to climate change modelling.



**Figure 4-19:** Relative predicted distribution of anthrax for Kenya under multiple climate scenarios.

(a), current; (b), RCP 4.5; (c) RCP 8.5. (Source: author)



**Figure 4-20:** Dichotomised maps of predicted anthrax distribution at Youden index  $\ge 0.75$  suitability.

Climate scenarios: (a), current; (b), RCP 4.5; (c), RCP 8.5. Highly suitable areas are shown in red colour and less suitable in grey colour. (Source: author)

### 4.2.2 Change in potential anthrax distribution

An increase in risk is identified in portions of the areas that already had high-risk predictions and also in areas that had not shown previous high-risk predictions (**Figure 4-10**), even though the areal coverages are relatively smaller for RCP 4.5 than RCP 8.5. These regions with an increase in anthrax risk include central region bordering central highlands; western regions bordering Uganda; and northern regions around rift valley escapement towards Lake Turkana. On the other hand, risk reduction was identified for both future scenario predictions in small patches of western, central, coastal and southwestern regions.



**Figure 4-21:** Changes in predicted anthrax risk in Kenya under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 climate scenarios. *Red areas show the increase in risk while blue areas the decrease.* (Source: author)

The association between the anthrax occurrences and changes in the climate change variables of RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 future climate scenarios from current scenario exhibited cases of p < 0.05, thus, H0 that: "Changes in specific climate parameters will not affect the future spatial distribution of anthrax in Kenya" was rejected at 95% confidence level. Changes in expansion, reduction (loss) and stability (no-change) were realized in the predicted anthrax distributions due to the three climate scenarios.

The total expansion areas realized across the climate scenarios made up 0.9% of the study area ( $\approx$ 580,367 km<sup>2</sup>), total areas of reduction were 0.4% and total areas of no-change were 6%. In addition, the distribution exhibited a northward shift from current to RCP 8.5 prediction as shown by the deviation ellipse (see **Figure 4-11**).



**Figure 4-22:** Potential anthrax distributional changes and shifts in Kenya under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 relative to current climatic scenario. (Source: author)

# 4.2.3 Marginal effects of the climate scenario variables

Partial dependency plots (PDP) of effect of the climate variables on the mean prediction probability of potential anthrax are presented in **Figure 4-12.** The relationships between the climatic variables and the anthrax prediction probability were nonlinear, multimodal and exhibited thresholding effect. Positive association of increasing variables with probability of anthrax suitability were observed for: increased precipitation of wettest month between  $\approx 150$ mm and  $\approx 200$  mm; precipitation of February ( $\approx 20 - \approx 50$  mm); precipitation of October ( $\approx 20 - \approx 100$  mm); precipitation of December ( $\approx 30 - \approx 50$  mm); annual temperature range between  $\approx 15 \text{ °C}$  and  $\approx 20 \text{ °C}$ ; precipitation of July ( $\approx 0 - \approx 100$  mm); and potential evapotranspiration from  $\approx 1500$  mm to  $\approx 1750$  mm. On the other hand, increased longest dry season

between  $\approx$ 3 months and  $\approx$ 6 months, temperature seasonality from  $\approx$ 1°C to 1.3 °C were associated with decreasing anthrax prediction probability. Slope exhibited a constant relationship before a constant drop after 85 degrees with the prediction probability.



**Figure 4-23:** Marginal effects plots of climate variables on the mean prediction probability of potential anthrax distribution.

# 4.3 Socio-economic vulnerabilities due to predicted anthrax risk

# 4.3.1 AHP relative weights

The pairwise criteria comparison matrix (**Table 4-3**) was constructed and applied in obtaining the relative criteria weights (Normalised Eigenvector). The criteria weights were determined with a consistency ratio of 0.03, which indicates acceptable limit of

consistency as it is less than 0.1. Among the selected criteria, predicted anthrax distribution came out as the most critical and population density as the least.

SP, Severe wasting prevalence; IM, Infant mortality rate									
	AN	LL	PI	IG	LC	SP	IM	PD	Weights
AN	1	2	2	2	3	2	3	7	0.24
LL	0.5	1	2	2	3	3	3	7	0.21
PI	0.5	0.5	1	1	3	2	3	5	0.15
IG	0.5	0.5	1.0	1	3	2	2	7	0.15
LC	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	1	2	2	3	0.08
SP	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	2	3	0.07
IM	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	3	0.06
PD	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.3	1	0.03
Total	3.0	6.0	6.5	10.2	13.0	16.0	25.5	32	1.000

**Table 4-9:** Pairwise Comparison Matrix and Weights of the Criteria. *AN, predicted anthrax distribution; LC, land cover use; LL; literacy level; PI, poverty index; PD, population density; IG, Income index; SP, Severe wasting prevalence; IM, Infant mortality rate* 

Mean eigen value (hmax) = 8.315; Consistency Index (CI) = 0.45; Consistency Ratio (CR) = 0.03

### 4.3.2 Assessment of socio-economic vulnerability

The association of vulnerability values as dependent variables and values of standard scaled predicted anthrax distribution interacting with other vulnerability criteria as independent variables exhibited significance at p<0.05. Hence, Null hypothesis that "anthrax spatial risk interacting with spatially explicit socio-economic factors do not influence socio-economic vulnerability in Kenya" was rejected at confidence level of 95%. Varying socio-economic vulnerability due to exposure to potential anthrax risk in four quantile classes (low, moderate, high, very high) were suggested across entire Kenya for current scenario. Very high vulnerability areas, above 75% quartile range (index > 1.0), were identified predominantly in the western, Lake Victoria Basin, central, south-eastern and upper eastern regions. In addition, small isolated patches of very high vulnerability were identified in northern, north-eastern and the coastal regions. Areas with low vulnerability below 25% quartile range (index < 0.5), were identified predominantly in parts of northern, north-eastern and southern regions tending to the Kenyan coast. The areas with very high vulnerability also host the larger portion of the Kenyan population. Based on the estimated total number of
people per 100 m grid-cell (Tatem, 2017), the population at risk within the high vulnerability area (index > 75%) is  $\approx$ 40,369,455 people. **Figure 4-13** shows the severity of socio-economic vulnerability in Kenya at current scenario.



Figure 4-24: Map of socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk in Kenya at current scenario.

*Red colour, very high risk; green colour, low risk.* (Source: author)

Similar varying socio-economic vulnerability patterns were observed for future scenarios as in current scenario, however, with areal expansions as influenced by the climate changes i.e.,  $\approx 181,559 \text{ km}^2$  for current scenario,  $\approx 185,124 \text{ km}^2$  for RCP 4.5, and  $\approx 185,345 \text{ km}^2$  for RCP 8.5 assuming sensitivity and adaptive capacity criteria remain constant into the future. **Figure 4-14** shows the relative vulnerability across the country for current and future scenarios.



**Figure 4-25:** Maps of socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk under multiple climatic scenarios.

(a)current climate scenario; (b), future climate scenario, RCP 4.5; and (c), future climate scenario, RCP 8.5. (Source: author)

Separate maps from sensitivity and adaptive capacity based on the aggregated composite indices from their individual criteria indices concerning anthrax risk were produced as shown in **Figure 4-15**. The areas identified for low to moderate risks resulting from low sensitivity and high adaptive capacity due anthrax exposure, are predominantly in similar areas as those previously predicted for high anthrax distribution. Conversely, high sensitivity and low adaptive capacity indicating high risks areas due to anthrax exposure are identified in northern and north-eastern regions areas with low predicted anthrax distribution.



**Figure 4-26:** Maps of risk to anthrax exposure per vulnerability component. *(a) sensitivity and (b) adaptive capacity.* (Source: author)

Each criterion's contribution to socio-economic vulnerability index was assessed by omitting the criterion while keeping everything constant in the sensitivity and adaptive capacity composite indices derivation. Contribution assessment for exposure component was not necessary as it had only one criterion. For sensitivity composite index, the omission of Severe Wasting Prevalence gave the highest inter quartile range (IQR) of 0.15, indicating highest contribution while that of Poverty Index, the lowest at IQR of 0.11. In the case for adaptive capacity score, the omission of Income Index gave higher IQR of 0.22 compared to the omission of Literacy Level of 0.15. **Figure 4-16** presents relative boxplots indicating the resulting IQRs when a criterion is discarded in the sensitivity and adaptive capacity vulnerability components.





(a)composite sensitivity index outcomes when a criterion is discarded while other criteria are kept constant; and (b) composite adaptive capacity index outcomes. Criteria: LL, literacy level; IG, Income Index; SP, Severe wasting prevalence; PI, poverty index; PD, population density; LC, Land cover use; and IM,

*Infant mortality rate.* 

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### **5.0 DISCUSSION**

### 5.1 Anthrax spatial distribution and the influencing factors

The predicted environmental conditions highly suitable for anthrax outbreaks were predominantly in regions around western Kenya and around Lake Victoria Basin bordering Uganda; southwestern regions around the shared Kenya-Tanzania border and running as a belt through central highlands of Kenya. This affects ~19,300,840 people per sq.km and ~7,750,675 livestock per sq.km. These predicted highly suitable areas closely include the areas previously reported with anthrax outbreaks in Kenya (Bett and Gachohi, 2019; Muturi et al., 2018). The areas are predominantly in poor rural settings where livelihood is mostly pastoralism and/or mixed crop-livestock agriculture (Carlson et al., 2019). On the other hand, low suitable areas were predicted in northern, north-eastern and lower-eastern regions towards the coastal region of Kenya, perhaps partly due to cultural frown on consumption of dead carcasses. The high and low suitability geographical distribution of the anthrax can be attributed to local environmental persistence of *B. anthracis*, the human behaviour and probably livestock movement through trade which may have disseminated *B. anthracis*, serving as a pathway for inter-region dispersion. The human behaviour being characterized by limited knowledge or awareness on the risk of the carcass handling and disposal; and consumption of infected meat as observed in Zimbabwe, Kenya and Ghana (Chirundu et al., 2009; Muturi et al., 2018; Opare et al., 2000). The number of people and animals at risk from anthrax outbreaks may most likely increase as the anthrax distribution in Kenya was predicted to expand with future climatic scenarios in this study The factors influencing the predicted anthrax distribution included climatic, edaphic, other environmental, topographical and socio-economic. These factors are further discussed save for climatic factors that are discussed in the climate section.

Edaphic factors including soil pH, clay content, soil organic carbon, Calcic Vertisols, Haplic Vertisols and Haplic Calcisols were suggested as other important factors in influencing to anthrax prediction, as documented in several previous studies in Tanzania, Zimbabwe, USA, China and India (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Chikerema *et al.*, 2013; Mwakapeje *et al.*, 2019; Nath and Dere, 2016). Different soil types are reported as important in anthrax distribution prediction in different environments, but they may possess similar characteristics that support B. anthracis vitality and persistence (Carlson et al., 2018). Increasing contents of Haplic vertisols, Calcic vertisols above  $\approx 6\%$  and Haplic Calsisols above 10% were associated with increasing prediction probability. Vertisols and Calsisols soils are rich in calcium and pH which are confirmed to influence *B. anthracis* spore germination, growth, survival, and possibly re-sporulation in the soil (Carlson et al., 2019; Da Gama et al., 2019; Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009; Virmani et al., 1982). In addition, soil pH marginal effect was suggested in this study to slightly increase anthrax prediction at high alkalinity window of 7 to 7.5. Studies in Ghana, and northern Hemisphere (temperate, boreal, and arctic regions) also found high soil pH indices to be associated with anthrax distribution prediction (Kracalik et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2018). Soils with high pH > 6.1 influence B. anthracis spore survival (Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009; Steenkamp, 2013). High percentage of soil clay content ( $\approx 30 - \approx 45\%$ ) were associated with increasing prediction probability. High clay content in the soils, may accelerate flooding due to its high water-retaining capacity and resulting flooding may transport the spores to concentrate elsewhere in low lying 'storage areas' (Dragon and Rennie, 1995; Fasanella et al., 2013). This precipitates conducive environments for the growth of contaminated fresh forage that attracts grazing by livestock. Further, low quantity range of soil organic carbon below  $\approx 300 \text{ kg/m3}$  was found to increase the probability of anthrax prediction. Another study in Kenya covering selected wildlife areas also found an association of anthrax outbreaks with soil organic carbon (Obanda et al., 2021). Soil organic matter containing soil organic carbon as the main component, support B. anthracis spore persistence (Dragon and Rennie, 1995; Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009). Generally, soil types determine chemical composition and moisture affinity of a soil hence the potential to support *B. anthracis* sporulation and subsequent potential anthrax risk (Blackburn, 2010; Lindeque and Turnbull, 1994; Ryu et al., 2003).

Enhanced vegetation index was suggested in this study to have increasing association with anthrax distribution prediction similar to a study in Ghana (Kracalik et al., 2017). Interestingly, another study in Kenya taken for selected wildlife areas applying a

different vegetation index (NDVI), also found an association with anthrax outbreaks (Obanda et al., 2021). The range of vegetation index less than 0.3 represents grassland and shrub, which mostly serve as grazing grounds for livestock in Africa. These grounds may get contaminated with anthrax spores and serve as anthrax infection 'time bomb' to grazers' anthrax infection. In addition, potential commingling of infected livestock in the grazing areas may lead to anthrax outbreaks. Indeed, grazing is the dominant transmission route for *B. anthracis* (Turner *et al.*, 2016).

High cattle density above 5000 animals/90 km2 was suggested to have positive correlation with increasing anthrax prediction probability. Cattle density reflects the size of household livestock assets in an area and livestock keeping contributes to household income and welfare thus to social and economic status in rural areas (Ouma et al., 2003; Waters-Bayer and Bayer, 1992). Hence, cattle density can be considered as a proxy to evaluate socio-economic factors (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2015). Cattle density has been associated with anthrax distribution prediction by studies in China and temperate, boreal, and arctic regions (Chen et al., 2016; Walsh et al., 2018). While environmental conditions define B. anthracis niches, socio-economic variables inherent within livestock production, including livestock numbers play an essential role in the occurrence of anthrax (Sitali et al., 2017). Another study in Lesotho also reported that socio-economic factors, have influence on the temporal and spatial pattern of anthrax outbreaks (Lepheana et al., 2018). Cattle keeping in Lesotho and Kenya bear similar African socio-economic role. High cattle density may present high likelihood of exposure to anthrax infection at shared contaminated grazing and/or watering points (Clegg et al., 2007).

Despite applying only livestock anthrax occurrences in this study, the study revealed potential anthrax outbreak suitability in wildlife conservation areas. The suitable areas fall in wildlife conservation areas such as Nakuru National Park that have previously reported anthrax outbreaks in Kenyan (Gachohi *et al.*, 2019; Muturi *et al.*, 2018). At the same time low risk was suggested in Tsavo National Park and Amboseli Game Reserves which have been reported in a previous study with low anthrax outbreaks (Gachohi *et al.*, 2019). This study also predicted suitable anthrax areas around the

shared Kenya-Tanzanian border, suggesting a likely transboundary anthrax suitability across the larger Mara-Serengeti ecosystem. Similarly, previous studies have documented anthrax occurrences in Serengeti National Park in Tanzania with anthrax distribution predictions identifying suitable areas along the border on the Tanzanian side (Hampson *et al.*, 2011; Lembo *et al.*, 2011). The fringes of wildlife conservation areas are usually shared by livestock and wildlife, presenting possible bidirectional anthrax transmission interfaces as is hypothesized for bovine tuberculosis or foot-andmouth disease (FMD) (Mohamed, 2020; Nthiwa *et al.*, 2019). Inherently anthrax burden in wildlife has been underestimated due to surveillance inadequacies and difficulties (Bengis and Frean, 2014). Therefore, information on potential anthrax distribution in relation to wildlife conservation areas is valuable for conservation efforts more so for endangered species like rhinos and Rothschild giraffe inhabiting these anthrax-suitable ecosystems. Niche modelling, such as carried out in this study, provides opportunities for a better approximation of risk hotspots concerning the wildlife conservation areas.

## 5.2 Anthrax distribution as influenced by multi climate changes

Occurrence and distribution of anthrax is limited by various climatic factors. The climate variables found in this study to have had important contribution to the potential distribution of anthrax outbreaks included: precipitation related (rainfall of wettest month, monthly mean precipitation, relative humidity, potential evapotranspiration); temperature related (annual temperature range, temperature seasonality); and weather extremes (longest dry season, drought severity). Specific patterns of rainfall, temperature, their ranges and their seasonality have been found to influence anthrax distribution in Tanzania, South Africa, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Siberia (Blackburn *et al.*, 2017; Ezhova *et al.*, 2020; Joyner *et al.*, 2010; Mwakapeje *et al.*, 2019; Steenkamp, 2013). In this study, precipitation level of the wettest month was suggested to have an increasing marginal effect to anthrax distribution prediction. Furthermore, monthly mean precipitation (February, July, October, December) were also suggested to have increasing marginal effect with anthrax distribution prediction probability. This implies that anthrax predicted outbreaks are associated with highly wet months of Kenya as another study in northern Kenya counties of Wajir, Isiolo and

Marsabit also associated rainfall of the wettest month with anthrax outbreaks (Abdirahim, M. A., 2018) Indeed, the precipitation months identified approximately overlaps with traditional wet months of Kenya, long rains (March-June) and short rains (September-December). The inexactness in the overlap may be attributed to shifts in wet months due to current changes in precipitation patterns associated with climate change (Njoka *et al.*, 2016). Precipitation may influence anthrax outbreak by exposing buried spores to the surface, causing run-offs that disperse the spores or collecting and concentrating the spores in 'storage areas' (Dragon and Rennie, 1995).

Temperature related variables, range and seasonality, had a positive correlation with increasing anthrax distribution prediction probability. Temperature range and seasonality were suggested to positively increase with increase in distribution prediction probability. Temperature has a direct effect on B. anthracis sporulation and germination (Turnbull, 2008). A study in northern Kenya covering Wajir, Isiolo, Marsabit counties also found temperature seasonality to be associated with anthrax outbreaks (Abdirahim, M. A., 2018). Away from Kenya, in Zimbabwe and Ghana temperature related variables were also found to increase with anthrax suitability prediction (Chikerema et al., 2013; Kracalik et al., 2017). Extreme weather patterns related to temperature in the form of drought severity and prolonged hot dry season were also found to influence anthrax prediction in this study. Drought severity presented a positive marginal effect on anthrax prediction and so was the longest dry season but after a threshold of 6 months. Previous studies in Zimbabwe, Tanzania and Italy also associated dry seasons with anthrax outbreaks (Chikerema et al., 2012; Fasanella et al., 2010b; Mwakapeje et al., 2019). Prolonged hot dry season preceded by heavy rains and rains ending a period of drought are documented to influence anthrax outbreaks (Nath and Dere, 2016; Turnbull, 2008). Dry seasons decrease soil water balance and compromise forage and force herbivores to feed on the available short grass very close to potentially spore-laden soils increasing the chances of anthrax outbreaks (Turnbull, 2008). In addition, during the dry seasons, characterized by scarcity of water and forage, livestock-wildlife anthrax transmission interfaces are precipitated at grazing grounds and water points (Mwakapeje et al., 2018). The wet season immediately after dry seasons, characterized by increased soil water balance

and sprouting grass, may expose spores to the surface with possible ingestion by herbivores (Nath and Dere, 2016).

Potential evapotranspiration and relative humidity are suggested in this study to substantially influence in anthrax prediction probability. Relative humidity showed increase with prediction probability after 60%. In a study in mainland China, relative humidity was also found to have substantial influence on anthrax suitability (Chen *et al.*, 2016). Relative humidity greater than 96% supports anthrax spore germination and can accelerate spores size growth (Turnbull, 2008). Potential evapotranspiration presented a decrease with anthrax prediction probability after 1500mm. A study in India also found a threshold of a negative correlation with anthrax suitability for Priestley-Taylor  $\alpha$  coefficient which is a derivative of potential evapotranspiration (Walsh *et al.*, 2019). Potential evapotranspiration influences the microenvironment for rate and extent of sporulation of *B.anthracis* (Turnbull, 2008).

The predictions under multi climate change scenarios were suggested in this study to expand in the anthrax high-risk areas into the future. This is similar to a study on climatic influence on anthrax suitability in northern Hemisphere (temperate, boreal, and arctic regions) (Walsh et al., 2018). Despite the environmental differences between Kenya and the northern Hemisphere, there are commonalities in patterns of climate-sensitive infectious diseases in the tropics and Arctic (Evengård and Sauerborn, 2009). This study also suggests a northward shift towards northern Kenya in anthrax distribution with varied spatial patterns and magnitude under the two climate change scenarios similar to previous studies in Tanzania and Kenya where climate change was found to cause shift and variation in distribution patterns of Rift Valley Fever (RVF) (Bett et al., 2019; Mweya et al., 2016). Similar climatic factors of precipitation, temperature, and their derivatives influence anthrax and RVF outbreaks (Bett et al., 2019; Hugh-Jones and Blackburn, 2009). B. anthracis growth, multiplication and sporulation are dependent on favourable climatic factors of precipitation, temperature, and their derivatives (Hugh-Jones and De Vos, 2002). Furthermore, increased temperatures may suppress host immune functions (Walsh et al., 2018). Expansion of risk was suggested in this study to extend in small patches of northern region, areas that did not have any high-risk prediction. A study in Bosnia and Herzegovina also reported new outbreaks in areas that had not reported anthrax for more than two decades, which was attributed to changes in temperature and rainfall patterns (Maksimović et al., 2017). The predicted anthrax risk in these new areas may be due to changing micro-climatic conditions presented by the relatively elevated altitude of the neighbouring rift valley escarpments. Conversely, a reduction in anthrax risk was shown for both future scenario predictions in small patches of western, central, coastal and southwestern regions. The variability of anthrax risk in magnitude and spatial patterns predicted future scenarios may be attributed to future variability of climate and weather across Kenya, either increasing or decreasing climatic suitability of anthrax. Climate changes have been confirmed to alter temperatures regimes, rainfall patterns and their derivatives (Stocker et al., 2014), which can in turn encourage increase of anthrax outbreaks potential by altering livestock-human interface areas, the meeting of infected hosts, and transmission season of anthrax (Kangbai and Momoh, 2017). Climate changes have been experienced in Kenya and changes in temperatures, rainfall patterns, and frequency of droughts and flooding have been documented (Njoka et al., 2016). This can be expected to influence spatial anthrax distribution patterns in Kenya.

### 5.3 Socio-economic vulnerabilities due to predicted anthrax risk

Socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk was generated by integrating selected criteria for: environment (land use cover); demographic (population density, poverty index, literacy level and income index); and health (severe wasting prevalence and infant mortality rate). On a relative scale, the socio-economic vulnerability and its decomposed domains varied in space perhaps due a spatial variation of the underlying anthrax risks. This study suggested occurrence of socio-economic vulnerability hotspots (index > 75%) for anthrax to be predominantly around Lake Victoria basin, western, southwestern, central regions for current and future climate scenarios affecting. This may be attributed to clustering of anthrax outbreaks in the same hotspot areas (Nderitu *et al.*, 2021; Otieno *et al.*, 2021). The exposure domain represented by predicted anthrax distribution attracted a larger weight relative to others. This suggests that vulnerability was majorly attributed to the exposure relative to sensitivity and

adaptive capacity domains. This may explain the manifestation of low vulnerability in northern, north eastern and eastern Kenya where anthrax risk is also low. Indeed, risks contributed to the vulnerability separately by sensitivity and adaptive capacity in the identified vulnerability hotspot were low. This may be attributed to the fact that these hotspots fall in medium to high agricultural potential areas where the resident communities have relatively better livelihoods as mixed farmers. This study also suggested general expansion in vulnerable areas into the future for current scenario at  $\approx$ 181,559 km<sup>2</sup>, RCP 4.5 at  $\approx$ 185,124 km<sup>2</sup> and RCP 8.5 at  $\approx$ 185,345 km<sup>2</sup>. This may be attributed to anthrax risk which was predicted to expand from current to the future similar to a study on vulnerability to malaria risk in relation to climate change for East Africa, central Asia, China and south America (Van Lieshout et al., 2004). Anthrax and malaria transmissions are influenced by similarly by climatic change (Davies, D. G., 1960; Martens et al., 1995). The estimated population at risk within the vulnerability hotspots was estimated at 40,369,455 people, which accounts for 75% of the Kenyan population. This high percentage may be explained by the fact that these vulnerability hotspots fall in the densely populated medium to high agricultural potential areas that host 80% of the Kenyan population (FAO, 2015).

The derived individual relative contribution of each criterion in the socio-economic vulnerability were specific. Severe Wasting Prevalence was suggested to have the highest contribution within the sensitivity domain, while Income Index, the highest in the adaptive capacity domain. Severe Wasting Prevalence indicates acute undernutrition due to lack of protein diets (Dukhi, 2020). Its manifestation may predispose households to consumption of anthrax infected meat leading to increased human anthrax incidences as have been reported in Zimbabwe, Zambia and Kenya (Davies, 1982; Lehman *et al.*, 2017; Mbai *et al.*, 2021). In addition, low-income levels may precipitate a situation where households cannot afford meat hence lead to possible consumption of infected meat (Opare *et al.*, 2000). Low income may also negatively influence the ability of households to afford regular livestock vaccination encouraging livestock anthrax outbreaks with possible spill over to humans, a scenario that has been observed in Kenya and Bangladesh (Mbai *et al.*, 2021; Sarker *et al.*, 2020).

## **5.4 Conclusions**

- a) The potential areas of anthrax risk and socio-economic vulnerability in Kenya under current and future climate scenarios are predominantly in western, central and southwestern regions with the influencing risk factors being related to precipitation, temperature, soil composition, vegetation index, slope and cattle density.
- b) Future climatic changes by the year 2055 will lead to expansion and northward shift of anthrax risk towards northern Kenya from current to future.
- c) A large proportion of the Kenyan population in high to medium potential areas are exposed to socio-economic vulnerability. The vulnerability resulting more from exposure to anthrax spatial risk relative to other criteria.

## **5.5 Recommendations**

- a) The developed anthrax risk and vulnerability maps should be employed by national and county governments, Kenya Wildlife Services (KWS) and partners to inform policy actions on anthrax preventions and control programs.
- b) Early warning community health education and awareness campaigns should be implemented in areas where high anthrax risk and vulnerability are predicted.
- c) Regular annual livestock vaccination campaigns should be targeted at the identified anthrax high risk livestock keeping areas as well as areas in proximity to wildlife conservation areas.
- d) The findings in this study should inform future ecological and epidemiological research on anthrax possible outbreaks especially in pinpointed isolated spots in arid and semi-arid environments.

### REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T., Dobrowski, S. Z., Parks, S. A., & Hegewisch, K. C. (2018).
  Abatzoglou, J. T., Dobrowski, S. Z., Parks, S. A., & Hegewisch, K. C. (2018).
  TerraClimate, a high-resolution global dataset of monthly climate and climatic water balance from 1958-2015. *Scientific Data*, 5(1), 1–12.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2017.191
- Abdelkarim, A., Al-Alola, S. S., Alogayell, H. M., Mohamed, S. A., Alkadi, I. I., & Ismail, I. Y. (2020). Integration of GIS-based multicriteria decision analysis and analytic hierarchy process to assess flood hazard on the Al-Shamal train Pathway in Al-Qurayyat Region, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Water* (*Switzerland*), 12(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/W12061702
- Abdirahim, M. A. (2018). Spatial distribution and knowledge, attitude and practices of anthrax among pastoralists in Wajir, Isiolo and Marsabit counties, Kenya [University of Nairobi].
  http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/104224/Msc thesis-Abdirahim Mohamed.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Abdirahim, M., Gathura, P. B., Shukri, J. G., Mohamed, A., Baaro, G. P., & Gelle, S. J. (2019). Assessment of Knowledge, Attitude and Practices (KAPS) of Anthrax among Pastoralists in Wajir, Isiolo and Marsabit Counties, Kenya. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology A*, 9(1), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.17265/2161-6256/2019.01.006

Adger, W. N. (2006). Vulnerability. Global Environmental Change, 16(3), 268–281.

- Ali, S. A., & Ahmad, A. (2019). Mapping of mosquito-borne diseases in Kolkata Municipal Corporation using GIS and AHP based decision making approach. *Spatial Information Research*, 27(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s41324-019-00242-8
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., & Kadmon, R. (2006). Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *43*(6), 1223–1232.
- Assefa, A., Bihon, A., & Tibebu, A. (2020). Anthrax in the Amhara regional state of Ethiopia; spatiotemporal analysis and environmental suitability modeling with an ensemble approach. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2020.105155
- Ashby, J., Moreno-Madriñán, M. J., Yiannoutsos, C. T., & Stanforth, A. (2017).

Niche modeling of dengue fever using remotely sensed environmental factors and boosted regression trees. *Remote Sensing*, 9(4), 328.

- Barbet- Massin, M., Jiguet, F., Albert, C. H., & Thuiller, W. (2012). Selecting pseudo- absences for species distribution models: how, where and how many? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(2), 327–338.
- Barro, A. S., Fegan, M., Moloney, B., Porter, K., Muller, J., Warner, S., & Blackburn, J. K. (2016). Redefining the Australian anthrax belt: Modeling the ecological niche and predicting the geographic distribution of Bacillus anthracis. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 10(6), e0004689.
- Begun, A. L. (1993). Human behavior and the social environment: The vulnerability, risk, and resilience model. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 29(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.1993.10778796
- Bengis, R. G., & Frean, J. (2014). Anthrax as an example of the One Health concept. In *OIE Revue Scientifique et Technique* (Vol. 33, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.33.2.2309
- Bett, B. K., & Gachohi, J. M. (2019). Insights from Kenya: why anthrax outbreaks recur in the same areas. In *CGSpace*.
- Bett, B. K., Otieno, F. T., & Murithi, F. (2019). Climate change and disease dynamics: Predicted changes in ecological niches for Rift Valley fever in East Africa. In P. Ferranti, E. M. Berry, & J. R. Anderson (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Food Security and Sustainability* (pp. 469–476).
- Bett, B., Kiunga, P., Gachohi, J., Sindato, C., Mbotha, D., Robinson, T., Lindahl, J., & Grace, D. (2017). Effects of climate change on the occurrence and distribution of livestock diseases. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 137, 119– 129.
- Bivand, R., Keitt, T., & Rowlingson, B. (2013). rgdal: Bindings for the geospacial data abstraction library. In *CRAN Repository*. http://cran.rproject.org/package=rgdal
- Blackburn, J. K. (2006). Evaluating the spatial ecology of anthrax in North America: Examining epidemiological components across multiple geographic scales using a GIS-based approach. Louisiana State University.

- Blackburn, J. K. (2010). Integrating geographic information systems and ecological niche modeling into disease ecology: a case study of Bacillus anthracis in the United States and Mexico. In *Emerging and Endemic Pathogens* (pp. 59–88). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9637-1\_7
- Blackburn, J. K., Matakarimov, S., Kozhokeeva, S., Tagaeva, Z., Bell, L. K., Kracalik, I. T., & Zhunushov, A. (2017). Modeling the ecological niche of Bacillus anthracis to map anthrax risk in Kyrgyzstan. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 96(3), 550–556.
- Blackburn, J. K., Odugbo, M. O., Van Ert, M., O'Shea, B., Mullins, J., Perrenten, V., Maho, A., Hugh-Jones, M., & Hadfield, T. (2015). Bacillus anthracis diversity and geographic potential across Nigeria, Cameroon and chad: Further support of a Novel West African Lineage. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 9(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003931
- Blackburn, J. K., Van Ert, M., Mullins, J. C., Hadfield, T. L., & Hugh-Jones, M. E. (2014). The necrophagous fly anthrax transmission pathway: Empirical and genetic evidence from wildlife epizootics. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 14(8), 576–583. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2013.1538
- Brooks, N. (2003). Vulnerability, risk and adaptation: A conceptual framework. Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. *Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, February*.
- Brotons, L., Thuiller, Wi, Araújo, M. B., & Hirzel, A. H. (2004). Presence- absence versus presence- only modelling methods for predicting bird habitat suitability. *Ecography*, 27(4), 437–448.
- Brouwer, R., Akter, S., Brander, L., & Haque, E. (2007). Socioeconomic vulnerability and adaptation to environmental risk: a case study of climate change and flooding in Bangladesh. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 27(2), 313–326.
- Carlson, C. J. (2020). embarcadero: Species distribution modelling with Bayesian additive regression trees in R. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*.
- Carlson, C. J., Kracalik, I. T., Ross, N., Alexander, K. A., Hugh-Jones, M. E., Fegan, M., Elkin, B. T., Epp, T., Shury, T. K., & Zhang, W. (2019). The global distribution of Bacillus anthracis and associated anthrax risk to humans, livestock and wildlife. *Nature Microbiology*, 1.

- Carlson, Colin J., Getz, Wayne M., Kausrud, Kyrre L., Cizauskas, Carrie A., Blackburn, Jason K., Bustos Carrillo, Fausto A., Colwell, Rita, Easterday, W. Ryan, Ganz, Holly H., Kamath, Pauline L., Økstad, Ole A., Turner, Wendy C., Kolstø, Anne Brit, & Stenseth, Nils C. (2018). Spores and soil from six sides: interdisciplinarity and the environmental biology of anthrax (Bacillus anthracis). *Biological Reviews*, 93(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12420
- Chen, W., Lai, S., Yang, Y., Liu, K., Li, X., Yao, H., Li, Y., Zhou, H., Wang, L., & Mu, D. (2016). Mapping the distribution of anthrax in mainland China, 2005– 2013. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 10(4), e0004637.
- Chikerema, S. M., Murwira, A., Matope, G., & Pfukenyi, D. M. (2013). Spatial modelling of Bacillus anthracis ecological niche in Zimbabwe. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 111(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.04.006
- Chikerema, S. M., Pfukenyi, D. M., Matope, G., & Bhebhe, E. (2012). Temporal and spatial distribution of cattle anthrax outbreaks in Zimbabwe between 1967 and 2006. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 44(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-011-9888-z
- Chirundu, D., Chihanga, S., Chimusoro, A., Chirenda, J., Apollo, T., & Tshimanga, M. (2009). Behavioural factors associated with cutaneous anthrax in Musadzi area of Gokwe North, Zimbabwe. Central African Journal of Medicine, 55(9/12), 50-54
- Clegg, S. B., Turnbull, P. C. B., Foggin, C. M., & Lindeque, P. M. (2007). Massive outbreak of anthrax in wildlife in the Malilangwe Wildlife Reserve, Zimbabwe. *Veterinary Record*, 160(4). https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.160.4.113
- Colwell, R. K., & Rangel, T. F. (2009). Hutchinson's duality: the once and future niche. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(Supplement 2), 19651–19658.
- Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J., & Shirley, W. L. (2003). Social vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Social Science Quarterly*, *84*(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6237.8402002
- Da Gama, J. T., Nunes, J. R., Loures, L., Piñeiro, A. L., & Vivas, P. (2019). Assessing spatial and temporal variability for some edaphic characteristics of

Mediterranean rainfed and irrigated soils. *Agronomy*, *9*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9030132

- Davies, D. G. (1960). The influence of temperature and humidity on spore formation and germination in Bacillus anthracis. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 58(2), 177–186.
- Davies, J. C. A. (1982). A major epidemic of anthrax in Zimbabwe. The spread of the epidemic in Matabeleland, Midlands and Mashonaland provinces during the period November, 1978 to October, 1980. *Central African Journal of Medicine*, 28(12).
- De Sherbinin, A., Chai-Onn, T., Jaiteh, M., Mara, V., Pistolesi, L., Schnarr, E., & Trzaska, S. (2015). Data integration for climate vulnerability mapping in West Africa. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, *4*(4), 2561–2582.
- De Sherbinin, Alex. (2014). Climate change hotspots mapping: What have we learned? *Climatic Change*, *123*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0900-7
- Devarakonda, P., Sadasivuni, R., Nobrega, R. A. A., & Wu, J. (2021). Application of spatial multicriteria decision analysis in healthcare: Identifying drivers and triggers of infectious disease outbreaks using ensemble learning. *Journal of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1002/mcda.1732
- Didan, K. (2015). MOD13Q1 MODIS/Terra vegetation indices 16-day L3 global 250m SIN grid V006 (NASA EOSDIS Land Processes DAAC (ed.)). African Soil information Services. http://africasoils.net/services/data/remotesensing/land
- Doganay, M., & Metan, G. (2009). Human anthrax in Turkey from 1990 to 2007. In Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases (Vol. 9, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2008.0032
- Dragon, D. C., & Rennie, R. P. (1995). The ecology of anthrax spores: tough but not invincible. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, *36*(5), 295.
- Driciru, M., Rwego, I. B., Asiimwe, B., Travis, D. A., Alvarez, J., VanderWaal, K., & Pelican, K. (2018). Spatio-temporal epidemiology of anthrax in Hippopotamus amphibious in Queen Elizabeth protected area, Uganda. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206922

- Dukhi, N. (2020). Global Prevalence of Malnutrition: Evidence from Literature. In *Malnutrition*. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.92006
- Ebi, K. L., Kovats, R. S., & Menne, B. (2006). An approach for assessing human health vulnerability and public health interventions to adapt to climate change. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *114*(12). https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8430
- Ekelund, S. (2011). *ROC curves what are they and how are they used?* Acutecaretesting.org. https://acutecaretesting.org/en/articles/roc-curves-whatare-they-and-how-are-they-used
- Elith, J., & Leathwick, J. (2017). Boosted Regression Trees for ecological modeling. *R Documentation. Available at Https://Cran. r-Project. Org/Web/Packages/Dismo/Vignettes/Brt. Pdf.*
- Elith, J., Leathwick, J. R., & Hastie, T. (2008). A working guide to boosted regression trees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 77(4), 802–813.
- Evengård, B., & Sauerborn, R. (2009). Climate change influences infectious diseases both in the Arctic and the tropics: joining the dots. *Global Health Action*, 2(1), 2106.
- Ezhova, E., Orlov, D., Malkhazova, S., Drozdov, D., Gennadinik, V., Kaverin, D., Zilitinkevich, S., Kerminen, V. M., Petäjä, T., & Kulmala, M. (2020). Potential Links between Precipitation and Anthrax Outbreak at North-West Siberia. EGU General Assembly Conference.
- Ezhova, E., Orlov, D., Suhonen, E., Kaverin, D., Mahura, A., Gennadinik, V.,
  Kukkonen, I., Drozdov, D., Lappalainen, H. K., Melnikov, V., Petäjä, T.,
  Kerminen, V. M., Zilitinkevich, S., Malkhazova, S. M., Christensen, T. R., &
  Kulmala, M. (2021). Climatic Factors Influencing the Anthrax Outbreak of
  2016 in Siberia, Russia. EcoHealth, 18(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-02101549-5
- Falzon, L. C., Alumasa, L., Amanya, F., Kang'ethe, E., Kariuki, S., Momanyi, K., Muinde, P., Murungi, M. K., Njoroge, S. M., Ogendo, A., Ogola, J., Rushton, Woolhouse, ME J., & Fèvre, E. M. (2019). One Health in Action: Operational Aspects of an Integrated Surveillance System for Zoonoses in Western Kenya. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00252

Fasanella, A., Galante, D., Garofolo, G., & Hugh-Jones, M. E. (2010). Anthrax

undervalued zoonosis. Veterinary Microbiology, 140(3-4), 318-331.

- Fasanella, A., Garofolo, G., Galante, D., Quaranta, V., Palazzo, L., Lista, F., Adone, R., & Jones, M. H. (2010). Severe anthrax outbreaks in Italy in 2004: Considerations on factors involved in the spread of infection. *New Microbiologica*, *33*(1).
- Fasanella, A., Garofolo, G., Hossain, M. J., Shamsuddin, M., Blackburn, J. K., & Hugh-Jones, M. (2013). Bangladesh anthrax outbreaks are probably caused by contaminated livestock feed. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 141(5), 1021–1028.
- Federici, V., Ippoliti, C., Goffredo, M., Catalani, M., Di Provvido, A., Santilli, Adriana, Quaglia, M., Mancini, G., Di Nicola, F., Di Gennaro, A., Leone, A., Teodori, L., Conte, A., & Savini, G. (2016). Epizootic haemorrhagic disease in Italy: Vector competence of indigenous culicoides species and spatial multicriteria evaluation of vulnerability. *Veterinaria Italiana*, 52(3–4). https://doi.org/10.12834/VetIt.894.4516.2
- Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Mastrandrea, M. D., Mach, K. J., Abdrabo, M., Adger, N., Anokhin, Y. A., Anisimov, O. A., Arent, D. J., & Barnett, J. (2014).
  Summary for policymakers. In *Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: global and sectoral aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 1–32). Cambridge University Press.
- Fluss, R., Faraggi, D., & Reiser, B. (2005). Estimation of the Youden Index and its associated cutoff point. *Biometrical Journal*, 47(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/bimj.200410135
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). (2015). AQUASTAT Country Profile Kenya. http://www.fao.org/3/i9762en/I9762EN.pdf
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). (2017). Africa Sustainable Livestock (ASL) 2050 Country Brief: Kenya. FAO. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7348e.pdf
- Friedman J.H. (2002). Stochastic gradient boosting, *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*, 38 (4) (2002), pp. 367-378
- Füssel, H. (2007). Vulnerability: A generally applicable conceptual framework for climate change research. *Global Environmental Change*, *17*(2), 155–167.
- Gachohi, J. M., Gakuya, F., Lekolool, I., Osoro, E., Nderitu, L., Munyua, P., Ngere, I., Kemunto, N., Bett, B., & Otieno, F. (2019). Temporal and spatial distribution

of anthrax outbreaks among Kenyan wildlife, 1999–2017. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 147.

- GIDEON. (2019). *The World's Premier Global Infectious Diseases Database*. https://www.gideononline.com/
- Gilbert, M., Nicolas, G., Cinardi, G., Van Boeckel, T. P., Vanwambeke, S. O., Wint, G. R. W., & Robinson, T. P. (2018). Global cattle distribution in 2010. *Scientific Data*, 5(1), 1–11. https://dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/GIV Q75
- Gini, C. (1936). On the measure of concentration with special reference to income and statistics. *Colorado College Publication, General Series*, 208(1), 73-79.
- Goel, A. K. (2015). Anthrax: a disease of biowarfare and public health importance. *World Journal of Clinical Cases: WJCC*, *3*(1), 20.
- Gowtham, R., Ramaraj, A. P., & Geethalakshmi, V. (2018). Climate change projections and addressing intrinsic uncertainties. In *Biodiversity and Climate Change Adaptation in Tropical Islands*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813064-3.00013-2
- Greenwell, B. M. (2017). pdp: An R package for constructing partial dependence plots. *R Journal*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.32614/rj-2017-016
- Guarini, M. R., Battisti, F., & Chiovitti, A. (2018). A methodology for the selection of multi-criteria decision analysis methods in real estate and land management processes. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/su10020507
- Guisan, A., & Thuiller, W. (2005). Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. *Ecology Letters*, 8(9), 993–1009.
- Hagenlocher, M., & Castro, M. C. (2015). Mapping malaria risk and vulnerability in the United Republic of Tanzania: a spatial explicit model. *Population Health Metrics*, *13*(1), 2.
- Hampson, K., Lembo, T., Bessell, P., Auty, H., Packer, C., Halliday, J., Beesley, C.
  A., Fyumagwa, R., Hoare, R., & Ernest, E. (2011). Predictability of anthrax infection in the Serengeti, Tanzania. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(6), 1333–

1344.

- Hengl, T., de Jesus, J. M., Heuvelink, G. B. M., Gonzalez, M. R., Kilibarda, M., Blagotić, A., Shangguan, W., Wright, M. N., Geng, X., & Bauer-Marschallinger, B. (2017). SoilGrids250m: Global gridded soil information based on machine learning. *PloS One*, *12*(2), e0169748. https://files.isric.org/soilgrids/data/recent
- Hijmans, R. J. (2020). raster: Geographic analysis and modeling with raster data. : *R Package Version 3.1-5, 3.1*(5).
- Hollings, T., Robinson, A., van Andel, M., Jewell, C., & Burgman, M. (2017). Species distribution models: A comparison of statistical approaches for livestock and disease epidemics. *PloS One*, *12*(8), e0183626.
- Hongoh, V., Hoen, A. G., Aenishaenslin, C., Waaub, J. P., Bélanger, D., & Michel, P. (2011). Spatially explicit multi-criteria decision analysis for managing vector-borne diseases. In *International Journal of Health Geographics* (Vol. 10). https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-10-70
- Hugh-Jones, M. E., & Blackburn, J. (2009). The ecology of Bacillus anthracis. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 30(6), 356–367.
- Hugh-Jones, M. E., & De Vos, V. (2002). Anthrax and wildlife. *Revue Scientifique et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties*, 21(1), 359–384.
- Huijbers, C. M., Richmond, S. J., LowChoy, S. J., Laffan, S. W., Hallgren, W., & Holewa, H. (2016). *Introduction To Species Distribution Models*. Biodiversity and Climate Change Virtual Laboratory. http://www.bccvl.org.au/training/
- Ikiara, G. K. (2009). Political economy of cash transfers in Kenya. In Overseas Development Institute (pp. 1–34). https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/5749.pdf
- Janssen, M. A., & Ostrom, E. (2006). Resilience, vulnerability, and adaptation: A cross-cutting theme of the International Human Dimensions Programme on Global Environmental Change. In *Global Environmental Change* (Vol. 16, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.04.003
- Joyner, T. A. (2010). *Ecological niche modeling of a zoonosis: A case study using anthrax outbreaks and climate change in Kazakhstan*. University of Florida.

- Joyner, T. A., Lukhnova, L., Pazilov, Y., Temiralyeva, G., Hugh-Jones, M. E., Aikimbayev, A., & Blackburn, J. K. (2010). Modeling the potential distribution of Bacillus anthracis under multiple climate change scenarios for Kazakhstan. *PloS One*, 5(3), e9596.
- Kaitho, T., Ndeereh, D., & Ngoru, B. (2013). An outbreak of anthrax in endangered Rothschild's giraffes in Mwea National Reserve, Kenya. Veterinary Medicine: Research And Reports, 45. doi: 10.2147/vmrr.s52238
- Kanankege, K. S. T., Abdrakhmanov, S. K., Alvarez, J., Glaser, L., Bender, J. B., Mukhanbetkaliyev, Y. Y., Korennoy, F. I., Kadyrov, Ab S., Abdrakhmanova, S., & Perez, A. M. (2019). Comparison of spatiotemporal patterns of historic natural Anthrax outbreaks in Minnesota and Kazakhstan. *PLoS ONE*, 14(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217144
- Kangbai, J., & Momoh, E. (2017). Anthropogenic climatic change risks a global anthrax outbreak: A short communication. *J Trop Dis*, 5(244), 2.
- Keim, P., Kalif, A., Schupp, J., Hill, K., Travis, S. E., Richmond, K., Adair, D. M., Hugh-Jones, M., Kuske, C. R., & Jackson, P. (1997). Molecular evolution and diversity in Bacillus anthracis as detected by amplified fragment length polymorphism markers. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *179*(3), 818–824.
- Kienberger, S., & Hagenlocher, M. (2014). Spatial-explicit modeling of social vulnerability to malaria in East Africa. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-13-29
- Kiker, G. A., Bridges, T. S., Varghese, A., Seager, P. T. P., & Linkov, I. (2005). Application of multicriteria decision analysis in environmental decision making. In *Integrated environmental assessment and management* (Vol. 1, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1897/IEAM\_2004a-015.1
- Kracalik, I. T., Kenu, E., Ayamdooh, E. N., Allegye-Cudjoe, E., Polkuu, P. N., Frimpong, J. A., Nyarko, K. M., Bower, W. A., Traxler, R., & Blackburn, J. K. (2017). Modeling the environmental suitability of anthrax in Ghana and estimating populations at risk: Implications for vaccination and control. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *11*(10), e0005885.
- Kracalik, I. T., Malania, L., Tsertsvadze, N., Manvelyan, J., Bakanidze, L., Imnadze, P., Tsanava, S., & Blackburn, J. K. (2013). Evidence of local persistence of

human anthrax in the country of Georgia associated with environmental and anthropogenic factors. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(9).

- Lehman, M. W., Craig, A. S., Malama, C., Kapina-Kany'anga, M., Malenga, P., Munsaka, F., Muwowo, S., Shadomy, S., & Marx, M. A. (2017). Role of food insecurity in outbreak of anthrax infections among humans and hippopotamuses living in a game reserve area, rural Zambia. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(9). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2309.161597
- Lembo, T., Hampson, K., Auty, H., Beesley, C. A., Bessell, P., Packer, C., Halliday, J., Fyumagwa, R., Hoare, R., Ernest, E., Mentzel, C., Mlengeya, T., Stamey, K., Wilkins, P. P., & Cleaveland, S. (2011). Serologic surveillance of anthrax in the Serengeti ecosystem, Tanzania, 1996-2009. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *17*(3). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1703.101290
- Lepheana, R. J., Oguttu, J. W., & Qekwana, D. N. (2018). Temporal patterns of anthrax outbreaks among livestock in Lesotho, 2005-2016. *PloS One*, *13*(10), e0204758.
- Li, Y., Yin, W., Hugh-Jones, M., Wang, L., Mu, D., Ren, X., Zeng, L., Chen, Q., Li, W., Wei, J., Lai, S., Zhou, H., & Yu, H. (2017). Epidemiology of human anthrax in China, 1955-2014. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2301.150947
- Lima, Y., Pinheiro, Wa A., Barbosa, C. E., Chaves, M., De Souza, J. M., Rodrigues, S., Hwang, J., Xexéo, G., Bruno, P. H., & Gomes, E. C. (2018). Multi-criteria Analysis applied to the inspection of Aedes Aegypti mosquito breeding places. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2247.
- Lindeque, P. M., & Turnbull, P. C. B. (1994). *Ecology and epidemiology of anthrax in the Etosha National Park, Namibia.*
- Lobo, J. M., Jiménez- Valverde, A., & Real, R. (2008). AUC: a misleading measure of the performance of predictive distribution models. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *17*(2), 145–151.
- Lung, T., Lavalle, C., Hiederer, R., Dosio, A., & Bouwer, L. M. (2013). A multihazard regional level impact assessment for Europe combining indicators of climatic and non-climatic change. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(2).
- Mackay, A. (2008). Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.

Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *37*(6), 6. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2008.0015br

- Maksimović, Z., Cornwell, M. S., Semren, O., & Rifatbegović, M. (2017). The apparent role of climate change in a recent anthrax outbreak in cattle. *Rev Sci Tech Off Int Epiz*, *36*(3), 959–963.
- Malczewski, J. (2006). GIS-based multicriteria decision analysis: A survey of the literature. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 20(7), 703–726. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658810600661508
- Martens, W. J. M., Niessen, L. W., Rotmans, J., Jetten, T. H., & McMichael, A. J. (1995). Potential impact of global climate change on malaria risk. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 103(5). https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.95103458
- Martínez-Rincón, R. O., Ortega-García, S., & Vaca-Rodríguez, J. G. (2012).
  Comparative performance of generalized additive models and boosted regression trees for statistical modeling of incidental catch of wahoo (Acanthocybium solandri) in the Mexican tuna purse-seine fishery. *Ecological Modelling*, 233, 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.03.006
- Mbai, J., Omolo, J. O., Wamamba, D., Maritim, D., Gura, Z., & Obonyo, M. (2021). Assessment of knowledge, attitudes and practices towards Anthrax in Narok County, Southern Kenya. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 38(120).
- McMichael, A. J., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Kovats, S., Edwards, S., Wilkinson, P., Wilson, T., Nicholls, R., Hales, S., Tanser, F., & Le Sueur, D. (2004). Global climate change. In *citeseerx*.
- McSweeney, C., New, M., & Lizcano, G. (2008). UNDP climate change country profiles: Kenya. UNDP, Nairobi.
- Michel, P. (2018). Prioritization tools for diseases and interventions targeting populations in Africa and Canada vulnerable to water-related health issues.
- Mischler, P., Kearney, M., McCarroll, J. C., Scholte, R. G. C., Vounatsou, P., & Malone, J. B. (2012). Environmental and socio-economic risk modelling for Chagas disease in Bolivia. *Geospatial Health*, 6(3), S59–S66.

- Moenga, B. O. (2010). Assessment of The Impact Of Climate Change On Livestock Diseases In Kajiado District, Kenya . University of Nairobi.
- Mohamed, A. (2020). Bovine tuberculosis at the human–livestock–wildlife interface and its control through one health approach in the Ethiopian Somali Pastoralists: A review. In *One Health* (Vol. 9). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onehlt.2019.100113
- Moore, M., Gelfeld, B., Adeyemi Okunogbe, C. P., Okunogbe, A., & Paul, C. (2017). Identifying future disease hot spots: infectious disease vulnerability index. *Rand Health Quarterly*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.7249/rr1605
- Moret, W. (2014). Vulnerability assessment methodologies: A review of the literature. *Washington, DC: FHI, 360*.
- MOVE. (2020). Generic conceptual framework for vulnerability measurement. EUROPEAN COMMISSION DG ENVIRONMENT. https://www.ipcc.ch/apps/njlite/srex/njlite\_download.php?id=6116
- Mugo, Bernard Chege, Lekopien, Cornelius, & Owiny, Maurice. (2021). 'We dry contaminated meat to make it safe': An assessment of knowledge, attitude and practices on anthrax during an outbreak, Kisumu, Kenya, 2019. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(11 November). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0259017
- Mulefu, F. O., Mutua, F. N., & Boitt, M. (2016). Malaria Risk and Vulnerability Assessment GIS Approach. Case Study of Busia County, Kenya. *IOSR Journal of Environmental Science*, *10*(4).
- Mullins, J., Lukhnova, L., Aikimbayev, A., Pazilov, Y., Van Ert, M., & Blackburn, J. K. (2011). Ecological Niche Modelling of the Bacillus anthracis A1. a sub-lineage in Kazakhstan. *BMC Ecology*, 11(1), 32.
- Munang'andu, H. M., Banda, F., Siamudaala, V. M., Munyeme, M., Kasanga, C. J., & Hamududu, B. (2012). The effect of seasonal variation on anthrax epidemiology in the upper Zambezi floodplain of western Zambia. *Journal of Veterinary Science*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2012.13.3.293
- Munyua, P., Bitek, A., Osoro, E., Pieracci, E. G., Muema, J., Mwatondo, A., Kungu, M., Nanyingi, M., Gharpure, R., & Njenga, K. (2016). Prioritization of zoonotic diseases in Kenya, 2015. *PloS One*, 11(8), e0161576.
- Muoria, P. K., Muruthi, P., Kariuki, W. K., Hassan, B. A., Mijele, D., & Oguge, N.

O. (2007). Anthrax outbreak among Grevy's zebra (Equus grevyi) in Samburu, Kenya. *African Journal of Ecology*, *45*(4), 483–489.

- Murithi, R. M., Munyua, P., Ithondeka, P. M., Macharia, J. M., Hightower, A., Luman, E. T., Breiman, R. F., & Njenga, M. K. (2011). Rift Valley fever in Kenya: history of epizootics and identification of vulnerable districts. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 139(3), 372–380.
- Muturi, M., Gachohi, J., Mwatondo, A., Lekolool, I., Gakuya, F., Bett, Al, Osoro, E., Bitek, A., Thumbi, S. M., & Munyua, P. (2018). Recurrent Anthrax Outbreaks in Humans, Livestock, and Wildlife in the Same Locality, Kenya, 2014–2017. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 99(4), 833–839.
- Muturi, M., Mwatondo, A., & Githuku, J. (2014). Anthrax Outbreak Investigation and Response Nakuru East sub-county (Issue brief).http://zdukenya.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/09/Anthrax-Outbreak-response\_Nakuru-county.pdf
- Mwakapeje, E. R., Fyumagwa, R., Nonga, H. E., Mdegela, R. H., & Skjerve, E. (2018). Anthrax outbreaks in the humans-livestock and wildlife interface areas of Northern Tanzania: a retrospective record review 2006–2016. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 106.
- Mwakapeje, E. R., Ndimuligo, S. A., Mosomtai, G., Ayebare, S., Nyakarahuka, L., Nonga, H. E., Mdegela, R. H., & Skjerve, E. (2019). Ecological niche modeling as a tool for prediction of the potential geographic distribution of Bacillus anthracis spores in Tanzania. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 79, 142–151.
- Mweya, C. N., Kimera, S. I., Stanley, G., Misinzo, G., & Mboera, L. E. G. (2016). Climate change influences potential distribution of infected Aedes aegypti cooccurrence with dengue epidemics risk areas in Tanzania. *PloS One*, *11*(9), e0162649.
- Naimi, B. (2017). *Package 'usdm*.' https://cran.r project.org/web/packages/usdm/usdm.pdf
- Narkhede, S. (2018). *Understanding AUC ROC Curve*. towards data ccience. https://towardsdatascience.com/understanding-auc-roc-curve-68b2303cc9c5
- Nath, S., & Dere, A. (2016). Soil geochemical parameters influencing the spatial distribution of anthrax in Northwest Minnesota, USA. *Applied Geochemistry*,

74, 144–156.

- Nderitu, L. M., Gachohi, J., Otieno, F., Mogoa, E. G., Muturi, M., Mwatondo, A., Osoro, E. M., Ngere, I., Munyua, P. M., Oyas, H., Njagi, O., Lofgren, E., Marsh, T., Widdowson, M., Bett, B., & Njenga, M. K. (2021). Spatial clustering of livestock Anthrax events associated with agro-ecological zones in Kenya, 1957–2017. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-021-05871-9
- New, M., Lister, D., Hulme, M., & Makin, I. (2002). A high-resolution data set of surface climate over global land areas. In University of Esat Anglia Climatic Research Unit (Ed.), A high-resolution data set of surface climate over global land areas. Climatic Research Unit. https://crudata.uea.ac.uk/cru/data/hrg/tmc/
- Njoka, J. T., Yanda, P., Maganga, F., Liwenga, E., Kateka, A., Henku, A., Mabhuye, E., Malik, N., & Bavo, C. (2016). Kenya: Country situation assessment. *Pathways to Resilience in Semi-Arid Economies (PRISE)*.
- Nthiwa, D., Alonso, S., Odongo, D., Kenya, E., & Bett, B. (2019). A participatory epidemiological study of major cattle diseases amongst Maasai pastoralists living in wildlife-livestock interfaces in Maasai Mara, Kenya. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 51(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-018-01790-1
- O'brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality & Quantity*, 41(5), 673–690.
- Odhiambo, J., Odhiambo, F., Edalia, J., Omale, N., Onyango, D., Wences, A., Gura, Z. (2013, June). Anthrax Outbreak Investigation, Hamisi District (Issue brief). http://zdukenya.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/Anthrax-outbreak-findingspresentations\_Hamisi-district.pdf
- Odu, G. O. (2019). Weighting methods for multi-criteria decision making technique. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management, 23(8). https://doi.org/10.4314/jasem.v23i8.7
- Onyango, E. A., Sahin, O., Awiti, A., Chu, C., & Mackey, B. (2016). An integrated risk and vulnerability assessment framework for climate change and malaria transmission in East Africa. *Malaria Journal*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-016-1600-3
- Opare, C., Nsiire, A., Awumbilla, B., & Akanmori, B. D. (2000). Human

behavioural factors implicated in outbreaks of human anthrax in the Tamale municipality of northern Ghana. *Acta Tropica*, 76(1), 49–52.

- Otieno, F. T., Gachohi, J., Gikuma-Njuru, P., Kariuki, P., Oyas, H., Canfield, S. An, Blackburn, J. K., Njenga, K., & Bett, B. (2021). Modeling the spatial distribution of anthrax in southern Kenya. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 15(3), e0009301.
- Ouma, Emily. A., Obare, Gideon. A., & Staal, Steven J. (2003). Cattle as assets: Assessment of non-market benefits from cattle in Smallholder Kenyan crop-Livestock Systems. *Proceedings of the 25th International Conference of Agricultural Economists (IAAE).* 16 – 22 August 2003, Durban, South Africa, August.
- Parker, L., Bourgoin, C., Martinez-Valle, A., & Läderach, P. (2019). Vulnerability of the agricultural sector to climate change: The development of a pan-tropical Climate Risk Vulnerability Assessment to inform sub-national decision making. *PloS One*, 14(3), e0213641.
- Parker, R., Mathis, C., Looper, M., & Sawyer, J. (2002). Anthrax and livestock. Guide B-120. Cooperative Extension Service, College of Agriculture and Home Economics.
- Patil, R. R. (2010). Anthrax: public health risk in India and socio-environmental determinants. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine: Official Publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine*, 35(1), 189..
- Pearce, J. L., & Boyce, M. S. (2006). Modelling distribution and abundance with presence- only data. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *43*(3), 405–412.
- Pearson, R. G., Thuiller, W., Araújo, M. B., Martinez- Meyer, E., Brotons, L., McClean, C., Miles, L., Segurado, P., Dawson, T. P., & Lees, D. C. (2006).
  Model- based uncertainty in species range prediction. *Journal of Biogeography*, *33*(10), 1704–1711.
- Pebesma, E. (2018). Simple features for R: Standardized support for spatial vector data. *R Journal*, *10*(1), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.32614/rj-2018-009
- Peterson, A. T. (2006). Ecologic niche modeling and spatial patterns of disease transmission. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *12*(12), 1822.

- Peterson, A. T., Papeş, M., & Soberón, J. (2008). Rethinking receiver operating characteristic analysis applications in ecological niche modeling. *Ecological Modelling*, 213(1), 63–72.
- Peterson, A. T., & Soberón, J. (2012). Species distribution modeling and ecological niche modeling: getting the concepts right. *Natureza & Conservação*, 10(2), 102–107.
- Pigott, D. M., Golding, N., Mylne, A., Huang, Z., Henry, A. J., Weiss, D. J., Brady, Ol J., Kraemer, M. U. G., Smith, D. L., & Moyes, C. L. (2014). Mapping the zoonotic niche of Ebola virus disease in Africa. *Elife*, *3*, e04395.
- Platts, P. J., Omeny, P. A., & Marchant, R. (2015). AFRICLIM high- resolution climate projections for ecological applications in Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 103-108.
- QGIS Development Team. (2014). QGIS Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. http://qgis.osgeo.org. *Qgisorg*, *February*.
- Qiao, H., Feng, X., Escobar, L. E., Peterson, A. T., Soberón, J., Zhu, G., & Papeş, M. (2019). An evaluation of transferability of ecological niche models. *Ecography*,
- Rass, Nikola. (2006). Policies and strategies to address the vulnerability of pastoralists in sub-Saharan Africa. *Rome: FAO, Pro-Poor Livestock Policy Initiative (PPLPI) Working Paper Series, 37.*
- R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. In *R Foundation for Statistical Computing*. https://www.r-project.org
- Rass, N. (2006). Policies and strategies to address the vulnerability of pastoralists in sub-Saharan Africa. *Rome: FAO, Pro-Poor Livestock Policy Initiative (PPLPI) Working Paper Series*, 37.
- Ridgeway, G., & Ridgeway, M. G. (2013). The gbm package. *R Foundation for Statistical Computing*, *10*(2013), 40.
- Ryu, C., Lee, K., Yoo, C., Seong, W. K., & Oh, H. (2003). Sensitive and rapid quantitative detection of anthrax spores isolated from soil samples by real- time PCR. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 47(10), 693–699.
- Saaty, R. W. (1987). The analytic hierarchy process-what it is and how it is used.

*Mathematical Modelling*, *9*(3–5), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/0270-0255(87)90473-8

- Saile, E., & Koehler, T. M. (2006). Bacillus anthracis multiplication, persistence, and genetic exchange in the rhizosphere of grass plants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(5), 3168–3174.
- Sarker, M. S. A., El Zowalaty, M. E., Ahosanul Haque Shahid, M., Sarker, M. A., Rahman, M. B., Järhult, J. D., & Nazmul Hussain Nazir, K. H. M. (2020). Maximization of livestock anthrax vaccination coverage in bangladesh: An alternative approach. *Vaccines*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030435
- Shabani, F., Kumar, L., & Ahmadi, M. (2018). Assessing accuracy methods of species distribution models: AUC, specificity, sensitivity and the true skill statistic. *GJHSS: Geography Geo-Sciences Environmental Science and Disasters Management*, 18(91), 6–18.
- Sillero, N. (2011). What does ecological modelling model? A proposed classification of ecological niche models based on their underlying methods. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(8), 1343–1346.
- Sing, Tobias, Sander, Oliver, Beerenwinkel, Niko, & Lengauer, Thomas. (2007). The ROCR Package. *R Vignette*. http://rocr.bioinf.mpi-sb.mpg.de/
- Sitali, D. C., Mumba, C., Skjerve, E., Mweemba, O., Kabonesa, C., Mwinyi, M. O., Nyakarahuka, L., & Muma, J. B. (2017). Awareness and attitudes towards anthrax and meat consumption practices among affected communities in Zambia: A mixed methods approach. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 11(5), e0005580.
- Smith, K. L., De Vos, V., Bryden, H. B., Hugh- Jones, M. E., Klevytska, A., Price, L. B., Keim, P., & Scholl, D. T. (1999). Meso- scale ecology of anthrax in southern Africa: a pilot study of diversity and clustering. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 87(2), 204–207.
- Smith, K. L., DeVos, V., Bryden, H., Price, L. B., Hugh-Jones, M. E., & Keim, P. (2000). Bacillus anthracis diversity in kruger national park. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 38(10), 3780–3784.
- Steenkamp, P. J. (2013). *Ecological suitability modelling for anthrax in the Kruger National Park, South Africa.* University of Pretoria.

- Stella, E., Mari, L., Gabrieli, J., Barbante, C., & Bertuzzo, E. (2020). Permafrost dynamics and the risk of anthrax transmission: a modelling study. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72440-6
- Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., & Midgley, P. M. (Eds.). (2014). Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of IPCC the intergovernmental panel on climate change. In *Cambridge University Press*.
- Sutherst, R. W. (2004). Global Change and Human Vulnerability to Vector-Borne Diseases. In *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* (Vol. 17, Issue 1, pp. 136–173). https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.17.1.136-173.2004
- Swartz, M. N. (2001). Recognition and management of anthrax—an update. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *345*(22), 1621–1626.
- Tatem, A. J. (2017). WorldPop, open data for spatial demography. In *Scientific Data* (Vol. 4). https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2017.4
- Tesfaye, K., Jaleta, M., Jena, P., & Mutenje, M. (2015). Identifying Potential Recommendation Domains for Conservation Agriculture in Ethiopia, Kenya, and Malawi. *Environmental Management*, 55(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-014-0386-8
- Thompson, C. G., Kim, R. S., Aloe, A. M., & Becker, B. J. (2017). Extracting the Variance In flation Factor and Other Multicollinearity Diagnostics from Typical Regression Results. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 39(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2016.1277529
- Thornton, P. K., Kruska, R. L., Henninger, N., Kristjanson, P. M., Reid, R. S., & Robinson, T. P. (2003). Locating poor livestock keepers at the global level for research and development targeting. *Land Use Policy*, 20(4), 311–322.
- Trabucco, A., & Zomer, R. J. (2010). Global soil water balance geospatial database. In CGIAR Consortium for Spatial Information (Ed.), *Global soil water balance geospatial database*. https://figshare.com/articles/Global\_High-Resolution\_Soil-Water\_Balance/7707605/3
- Turnbull, P. C. B. (1998). Guidelines for the surveillance and control of anthrax in

humans and animals (No. WHO/EMC/ZDI/98.6). In *World Health Organization*. https://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/anthrax/whoemczdi986text.pdf

- Turnbull, P. C. B. (2008). Anthrax in humans and animals. In *World Health Organization*. https://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/anthrax\_webs.pdf
- Turner, B. L., Matson, P. A., McCarthy, J. J., Corell, W., Christensen, L., Eckley, N., Hovelsrud-Broda, G. K., Kasperson, J. X., Kasperson, R. E., Luers, A., Martello, M. L., Mathiesen, S., Naylor, R., Polsky, C., Pulsipher, A., Schiller, A., Selin, H., & Tyler, N. (2003). Illustrating the coupled human-environment system for vulnerability analysis: Three case studies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(14). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1231334100
- Turner, W. C., Imologhome, P., Havarua, Z., Kaaya, G. P., Mfune, J. K. E., Mpofu, I. D. T., & Getz, W. M. (2013). Soil ingestion, nutrition and the seasonality of anthrax in herbivores of Etosha National Park. *Ecosphere*, 4(1), 1–19.
- Turner, W. C., Kausrud, K. L., Beyer, W., Easterday, W. R., Barandongo, Z. R., Blaschke, E., Cloete, C. C., Lazak, J., Van Ert, M. N., Ganz, H. H., Turnbull, P. C. B., Stenseth, N. C., & Getz, W. M. (2016). Lethal exposure: An integrated approach to pathogen transmission via environmental reservoirs. *Scientific Reports*, *6*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27311
- United States Geological Survey. (1996). *Global 30 Arc-Second Elevation* (*GTOPO30*) (USGS (Ed.); Vol. 45, Issue 2). United States Geological Survey (USGS). http://edc.usgs.gov/products/elevation/gtopo30/gtopo30.html
- Van Lieshout, M., Kovats, R. S., Livermore, M. T. J., & Martens, P. (2004). Climate change and malaria: Analysis of the SRES climate and socio-economic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2003.10.009
- Van Ness, G. B. (1971). Ecology of anthrax. Science, 172(3990), 1303–1307.
- Van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., Hurtt, G. C., Kram, T., Krey, V., & Lamarque, J. (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Climatic Change*, 109(1–2), 5.
- Velasquez, M., & Hester, P. (2013). An analysis of multi-criteria decision making

methods. International Journal of Operations Research, 10(2).

- Vieira, A. R., Salzer, J. S., Traxler, R. M., Hendricks, K. A., Kadzik, M. E., Marston, C. K., Kolton, C. B., Stoddard, R. A., Hoffmaster, A. R., & Bower, W. A. (2017). Enhancing surveillance and diagnostics in anthrax-endemic countries. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 23(Suppl 1), S147.
- Virmani, S. M., Sahrawat, K. L., & Burford, J. R. (1982). Physical and chemical properties of Vertisols and their management. 12 Th International Congress of Soil Science. http://oar.icrisat.org/4038/1/0048.pdf
- Walsh, M. G., de Smalen, A. W., & Mor, S. M. (2018). Climatic influence on anthrax suitability in warming northern latitudes. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 9269.
- Walsh, M. G., Mor, S. M., & Hossain, S. (2019). The elephant–livestock interface modulates anthrax suitability in India. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 286(1898), 20190179.
- Wandiga, S. O., Opondo, M., Olago, D., Githeko, A., Githui, F., Marshall, M., Downs, T., Opere, A., Oludhe, C., Ouma, G. O., Yanda, P. Z., Kangalawe, R., Kabumbuli, R., Kathuri, J., Apindi, E., Olaka, L., Ogallo, L., Mugambi, P., Sigalla, R., ... Achola, P. (2010). Vulnerability to epidemic malaria in the highlands of Lake Victoria basin: The role of climate change/variability, hydrology and socio-economic factors. *Climatic Change*, 99(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-009-9670-7
- Warren, D. L., & Seifert, S. N. (2011). Ecological niche modeling in Maxent: the importance of model complexity and the performance of model selection criteria. *Ecological Applications*, 21(2), 335–342.
- Waters-Bayer, A., & Bayer, W. (1992). The role of livestock in the rural economy. *Nomadic Peoples*, 31.
- Williams, H. W., Cross, D. E., Crump, H. L., Drost, C. J., & Thomas, C. J. (2015). Climate suitability for European ticks: assessing species distribution models against null models and projection under AR5 climate. *Parasites & Vectors*, 8(1), 440.
- World Bank Group. (2021). Explore historical and projected climate data, climate data by sector, impacts, key vulnerabilities and what adaptation measures are being taken. Explore the overview for a general context of how climate change

*is affecting Kenya*. Climate Change Knowledge Portal. https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/kenya/climate-datahistorical

Yackulic, C. B., Chandler, R., Zipkin, E. F., Royle, J., Nichols, J. D., Campbell Grant, E. H., & Veran, S. (2013). Presence- only modelling using MAXENT: when can we trust the inferences? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(3), 236–243.

## APPENDICES

# Appendix 1: Anti-plagiarism check results

Otieno\_Environmental and socio-economic predictors of anthrax spatial distribution in Kenya

ORIGIN	IALITY REPORT				
2 SIMIL	2% ARITY INDEX	15% INTERNET SOURCES	15% PUBLICATIONS	5% STUDENT PAPERS	5
PRIMA	RY SOURCES				
1	Fredrick Gikuma- the Pote Outbrea Scenaric Environ 2021 Publication	Tom Otieno, Jo -Njuru, Patrick K ential Future Dis iks under Multip os for Kenya", In mental Research	hn Gachohi, F Cariuki et al. "I tribution of A ole Climate Ch ternational Jo n and Public F	Peter Modeling nthrax hange burnal of lealth,	4%
2	journals	.plos.org			3%
3	ar.scribo	d.com			1 %
4	WWW.es	p.org			1 %
5	WWW.MO	ced-ecology.org		<	1 %
6	reposito	ory.up.ac.za		<	1 %

link.springer.com
# **Appendix 2:** Environment and socioeconomic data description, sources and references

	Variable	Source	Reference
1.	30 arc seconds. Priestley-Taylor Alpha Coefficient Soil-Water Balance $(P-T\alpha)$	Trabucco <i>etal</i> , figshare: https://figshare.com/articles/Global_ High-Resolution_Soil- Water_Balance/7707605/3	(Trabucco and Zomer, 2010)
2.	0.5° resolution Relative Humidity (%)	CRU: https://crudata.uea.ac.uk/cru/data/hrg/ tmc/	(New et al., 2002)
3.	30-arc seconds digital elevation model (m)	USGS: https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/	(USGS, 1996)
4.	Slope (°)	Spatial analysis derived from GOTOPO30	Derived by author
5.	1km resolution Mean annual temperature (° C*10)		
6.	1km resolution Mean temp warmest quarter (° C*10)		
7.	1km resolution Mean temp coolest quarter (° C*10)		
8.	1km resolution Mean annual rainfall (mm)		
9.	1km resolution Rainfall wettest month (mm)		
10.	1km resolution Precipitation of Driest Month (mm)		
11.	1km resolution Rainfall seasonality (mm)		
12.	1km resolution Rainfall wettest quarter (mm)		
13.	1km resolution Rainfall driest quarter (mm)		Platts et al., 2015)
14.	1km resolution Mean diurnal range in temp (° C*10)		
15.	1km resolution Isothermality (° C*10)	https://webfiles.york.ac.uk/KITE/Afri	
16.	1km resolution Temperature Seasonality (° C*10)	im/	
17.	1km resolution Max temp warmest month (° C*10)		
18.	1km resolution Min temp coolest month (° C*10)		
19.	1km resolution Annual temperature range (° C*10)		
20.	1km resolution Number of dry months (months)		
21.	1km resolution Length of longest dry season (months)		
22.	1km resolution Annual moisture index (index)		
23.	1km resolution Moisture index moist quarter (index)		
24.	1km resolution Moisture index arid quarter (index)		

25.	30 arc seconds Potential		
	evapotranspiration (mm)		
26.	4 km resolution Palmer Drought Severity Index (index)		
27.	4 km resolution Soil Moisture $(m^3/m^3)$	<b>TerraClimate:</b> https://climate.northwestknowledge.n	(Abatzoglou et al., 2018)
28.	4 km resolution Windspeed(km/hr)	et/TERRACLIMATE/index_directD ownloads.php	
29.	1km Multidimension Poverty Index	Worldpop:	(Tatem, 2017)
		https://www.worldpop.org/geodata/su mmary?id=1262	
30.	1km Income GINI index	HDX: https://data.humdata.org/dataset/keny a-income-gini-coefficient-per-county	(Gini, 1936)
31.	250m resolution Soil organic carbon density (depth 0 cm) (kg/m3)		
32.	250m resolution Clay content (0-2		
	micrometer) at depth 0.00 m (mass fraction %)		
33.	250 m resolution Soil texture		
	fraction at depth 0.00 m (factor)		
34.	250 m resolution Silt content (2-50		
	fraction %)		
35	250m resolution sand content (50-		
55.	2000 micrometer) depth 0.00m	ISRIC:	(Hengl et al., 2017)
	(mass fraction %)	https://files.isric.org/soilgrids/data/re	
36.	250 m resolution Soil pH x 10 in H2O at depth 0.00 (Index*10)	cent	
37	250 m resolution Calcic Vertisols		
0	WRB class (%)		
38.	250 m resolution Haplic Vertisols		
	WRB class (%)		
39.	250 m resolution Haplic Calcisols WRB class (%)		
40.	5 arc-minute Gridded Livestock	HAVARD, Dataverse:	(Gilbert et al., 2018)
	Density (animals per km2	https://dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.	
		xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DV N/GIVQ75	
41.	250 m resolution Enhanced	AfSIS:	(Didan, 2015)
	vegetation index (index)	http://africasoils.net/services/data/re	
		mote-sensing/land	

	Variable	Source	Reference		
1.	30-arc seconds digital elevation model (m)	USGS: https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/	(USGS, 1996)		
2.	Slope (°)	derived from DEM through Spatial analysis	Derived by author		
3.	1km resolution Mean annual temperature (° C*10)(current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
4.	1km resolution Mean temp warmest quarter (° C*10) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
5.	1km resolution Mean temp coolest quarter (° C*10)(current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
6.	1km resolution Mean annual rainfall (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
7.	1km resolution Rainfall wettest month (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
8.	1km resolution Precipitation of Driest Month (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
9.	1km resolution Rainfall seasonality (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
10.	1km resolution Rainfall wettest quarter (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
11.	1km resolution Rainfall driest quarter (mm) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)	University of York, AfriClim: https://webfiles.york.ac.uk/KITE	(Platts <i>et al.</i> , 2015)		
12.	1km resolution Mean diurnal range in temp (° C*10)(current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)	/AfriClim/GeoTIFF_30s/			
13.	1km resolution Isothermality (° C) x10 (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
14.	1km resolution Temperature Seasonality (° C*10)(current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
15.	1km resolution Max temp warmest month (° C*10) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
16.	1km resolution Min temp coolest month (° C*10) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
17.	1km resolution Annual temperature range (° C*10) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
18.	1km resolution Number of dry months (months) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
19.	1km resolution Length of longest dry season (months) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				
20.	1km resolution Annual moisture index (index) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)				

# Appendix 3: Current and future climate data description, sources and references

21.	1km resolution Moisture index moist
	quarter (index) (current, RCP 4.5, RCP
	8.5)
22.	1km resolution Moisture index arid
	quarter (index)
23.	30 arc seconds Potential
	evapotranspiration (mm) (current, RCP
	4.5, RCP 8.5)
24.	30 arc seconds Mean monthly
	precipitation (current, RCP 4.5, RCP
	8.5)
25.	30-arc seconds Monthly 2-metre air
	temperature (current, RCP 4.5, RCP
	8.5)
26.	30-arc seconds Monthly average of
	daily maximum temperature (current,
	RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)
27.	30-arc seconds Monthly average of
	daily minimum temperature (current,
	RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5)

#### Appendix 4: R script for ENM of BRT

library(maps) library(sp) library(rgdal) library(raster) library(rgeos) library(maptools) library(mapdata) library(gbm) library(dismo) library (ResourceSelection) library(dplyr) library(tidyverse) library (SDMPlay) library(spatstat) library(xlsx) library (MASS) library(spatialEco) library(pROC) library(randomForest) library(boot) library (Hmisc) library(verification)

memory.limit(size=40000)# sets ample RAM for model runs to avoid bail out

# access data storage folder

#----inputs<- ("C:/RF\_data/Inputs") #data path
setwd(inputs)</pre>

#Read spatial data

#-----

```
studarea_bnd <- readOGR("historicalCentWestSouthSubs_bnd.shp")
kenya1<-readOGR("kenya1.shp")# used to provide uniform CRS
projcrs <- crs(kenya1)
maskedbnd<- readOGR("historicalWestSouthSubsLess5kmbuff.shp")# create 5km mask
around presences.
plot(maskedbnd)</pre>
```

#read occurrences-presence CSV

#-----anthrax\_occurences <- read.csv ("occurrence69Points.csv",header=TRUE, sep=",") anthrax\_occurences <- anthrax\_occurences[,3:4] head(anthrax\_occurences)

#accessing and stacking the raster files #----- setwd("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\BRT") #raster path to any predictor raster data (e.g. environmental, climate) tifFiles <- Sys.glob ('\*.tif') predictors\_anthrax <-stack(tifFiles,quick =F)</pre>

```
#model loop run steps
set.seed(100)
mylist<-list()
bs.list <- list()
dps <- list()
nrep=100 # initialising 100 runs
for (r in 1:nrep){
 setwd("C:\\RF_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs_brt2")# run out put storage folder
 print(paste("run", r))
 set.seed(100)# setting reproducibility in the model runs
 #generate pseudo-absence random points
 anthrax pseudos<-spsample(maskedbnd,n=178,"random", cellsize=5000)
 anthrax_pseudos_df<-data.frame(anthrax_pseudos)
 anthrax_pseudos_df<-anthrax_pseudos_df[,1:2]
 plot(anthrax_pseudos)
 #convert dataframes to spatial data
 anthrax_occurences_points
                              <-
                                     SpatialPointsDataFrame
                                                                (anthrax_occurences,
anthrax_occurences,proj4string = projcrs)
 head(anthrax_occurences_points)
 plot(anthrax_occurences_points,Add=T)
 anthrax_pseudos_points <- SpatialPointsDataFrame (anthrax_pseudos, anthrax_pseudos_df,
proj4string = projcrs)
 head(anthrax_pseudos_points)
 #partitioning data into training (75%) and testing (25%)
 #-----
 #For presence data
 group<-kfold(anthrax_occurences_points,10)
 prescence_train<-anthrax_occurences_points[group! =1,] #set 75% of the presence data as
your training data
 prescence_test<-anthrax_occurences_points[group==1,] #set 25% of the presence data as
your testing data
 #For pseudo-absence data
 group<-kfold(anthrax pseudos points,10)
 absence train--anthrax pseudos points[group! =1,] #set 75% of the absence data as your
training data
 absence_test <-anthrax_pseudos_points[group==1,] #set 25% of the absence data as your
training data
 #plotting training presence and absence points
 #-----
```

train\_ponts <- rbind( prescence\_train , absence\_train)
plot(maskedbnd)</pre>

points (train\_ponts)

#-----

#----file1<-raster::extract(predictors\_anthrax,prescence\_train,method='simple')
outcome<-rep(1,dim(file1)[[1]])
file1<-cbind(outcome,file1)</pre>

file2<-raster::extract(predictors\_anthrax,absence\_train,method='simple') outcome<-rep(0,dim(file2)[[1]]) file2<-cbind(outcome,file2)

#combine presence and absence train data
train\_data<-as.data.frame(rbind(file1,file2))</pre>

#extracting train data from predictor raster

# persist run train data into csv files write.csv(train\_data, paste0(getwd(),Sep="/","trainData.csv"),row.names=TRUE,col.names=FALSE)

```
#extracting testing data from predictor raster
```

pre\_testdata<-raster::extract(predictors\_anthrax,prescence\_test,method='simple') outcome<-rep(1,dim(pre\_testdata)[[1]]) pre\_testdata<-cbind(outcome,pre\_testdata) pre\_testdata<-na.omit(pre\_testdata)

```
abs_testdata<-raster::extract(predictors_anthrax,absence_test,method='simple')
outcome<-rep(0,dim(abs_testdata)[[1]])
abs_testdata<-cbind(outcome,abs_testdata)
abs_testdata<-na.omit(abs_testdata)
```

#combine presence and absence test data
test\_data<-as.data.frame(rbind(pre\_testdata,abs\_testdata))</pre>

# persist run train data into csv files

```
write.csv(test_data,paste0(getwd(),Sep="/","testData.csv"),row.names=TRUE,col.names=FA LSE)
```

col<-ncol(train\_data)

 $brt_step <-gbm.step(data = train_data, gbm.x = c(2:col), gbm.y = 1, family = "bernoulli", tree.complexity = 5, learning.rate = 0.001, bag.fraction = 0.5, max.trees = 2500, n.folds = 10)$ 

#n.trees=brt\_simplify\_step\$n.tree, type='response', format='GTiff',overwrite=TRUE)#
outputs predicted #distribution rasters.

#storing BRT run objects

#-----

```
brt step.bs
                                try(gbm.step(data=train_data[sample(NROW(train_data),
                     <-
NROW(train_data), replace=T),], gbm.x =c(2:col),
                gbm.y = 1, family = "bernoulli", tree.complexity = 5, learning.rate = 0.001,
bag.fraction = 0.5, max.trees = 2500, n.folds = 10,
                verbose=TRUE, silent=FALSE, plot.main=TRUE))
 if (class(brt_step.bs) == "try-error") next
 bs.list[[r]] <- brt step.bs
 cat("This is replicate number ", r, "\n")
 save(bs.list, file="bs.list.Rdata")
 rm(brt_step.bs)
 #storing run AUcs
 #-----
 AUC<-brt_step$cv.statistics$discrimination.mean
 mylist<-append(mylist,AUC)
 }
#create AUC excel file
#_____
write.xlsx(unlist(mylist),"AUC.xlsx")
#Get CI values
#-----
CI.mat <- matrix(ncol=nrep, nrow=124)
for (i in 1:nrep) { CI.mat[,i] <- predict.gbm(bs.list[[i]], newdata=train_data, n.trees=2500,
                         type="response")
 CIs <- apply(CI.mat, 1, quantile, c(0.25,0.5, 0.975), na.rm=T)
}
# BRT partial plots with CI
#-----
xlims=c(0.520)
partial <- plot.gbm(brt_step, i.var="CDens", return.grid=T)</pre>
plot.new()
plot(partial, type="l", main="", col="blue", ylab="", xlim=xlims, xlab="EVI", ylim=c(-
0.15,0.2),
   yaxs="i", las=1, xaxs="r", cex.lab=1, tcl=0)
abline(h=0, col="red")
newx <- seq(min(train_data$CDens, na.rm=T), max(train_data$CDens, na.rm=T), len=124)
#bootstrap lines:
lines(newx, predict.gbm(brt_step, newdata=train_data, n.trees=200, type="response"),
col="grey40", lwd=2,
   type="s")
matlines(newx, t(CIs), col=rgb(2,2,2,2,4), lwd=3, type="o", lty=c(2,1,2),xlim =
xlims,ylim=c(-0.15,0.2))
#creating mean of the predictions and CIs
#Mean of Predictions
setwd("C:\\RF data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs brt2")
tifFiles <- Sys.glob('*.tif')
predicted<-stack(tifFiles,quick=F)
```

```
102
```

mean\_narm = function(x,...){mean(x,na.rm=TRUE)}
Predict\_mean<- do.call(overlay, c(predicted, fun = mean\_narm))
writeRaster(Predict\_mean,filename='mean\_predictBRT', format="GTiff", overwrite=TRUE)
meanPred<-raster("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2\\mean\_predictBRT.tif")
plot(meanPred)</pre>

#Upper 97.5% of predictions setwd("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2") tifFiles <- Sys.glob('\*.tif') predicted<-stack(tifFiles, quick=F) uci\_narm = function(x,...){quantile(x, probs = c(0.975),na.rm=TRUE)} Predict\_uci<- do.call(overlay, c(predicted, fun = uci\_narm)) setwd("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2\\CI") writeRaster(Predict\_uci,filename='uci\_predictBRT2', format="GTiff", overwrite=TRUE) uciPred<-raster("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2\\CI\\uci\_predictBRT2.tif") plot(uciPred)

#Lower 2.5% of predictions setwd("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2") tifFiles <- Sys.glob('\*.tif') predicted<-stack(tifFiles, quick=F) lci\_narm = function(x,...){quantile(x, probs = c(0.025),na.rm=TRUE)} Predict\_lci<- do.call(overlay, c(predicted, fun = lci\_narm)) setwd("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2\\CI") writeRaster(Predict\_lci,filename='lci\_predictBRT2', format="GTiff", overwrite=TRUE) lciPred<-raster("C:\\RF\_data\\Inputs\\VIF\\runs\_brt2\\CI\\lci\_predictBRT2.tif") plot(lciPred)

#### Appendix 5: Application of AHP to derive criteria weights

Eight environmental, demographic, economic and health criteria were subjected to AHP process to determine their relative weights in assessing the socio-economic vulnerability to anthrax risk. The criteria included: exposure (predicted anthrax distribution (AN)); sensitivity (Land cover use (LC), Poverty index (PI), Population density, (PD), Severe wasting prevalence (SP) Infant mortality rate (IM)); adaptive capacity, (Income index (IG) and Literacy level (LL))

Criteria importance values for each criterion relative to the other criteria were determined based Saaty's fundamental scale resulting pairwise comparison matrix (Table 1). The assigned importance values were arrived at from literature review and expert consultations. The order of developing the comparison matrix was such that, the importance values were assigned to a criterion relative to others based on the deemed relative strength (or not) in the row cells (i<sub>1-n</sub>, j<sub>1-n</sub>) and reciprocal judgment values assigned in column cells (j<sub>1-n</sub>, i<sub>1-n</sub>) of the lower triangular matrix (cells before the diagonal cells usually contains value=1). The comparison matrix (table) was to enable calculation of  $\lambda$ max (eigenvalues) through initial derivation of eigenvector (relative weights).  $\lambda$  max values are prerequisite for the calculation of Consistency Index (CI) hence Consistency Ratio (CR). Consistency ratio indicates the acceptable limit of consistency at CR < 0.1. There exist several methods for calculating the eigenvector (relative weights). In this study, the method adapted was that of multiplying each row entry of the matrix together then taking the 8th root of the products to give approximation of the eigenvectors for each row. The process of deriving  $\lambda$ max values was as the following outline:

- 1) First, the 8<sup>th</sup> root of the product of the row matrix criteria pair values was determined for the eight (8) criteria to derive eigenvector,  $\omega$ .
- 2) Each eigenvector value was normalised with their overall sum for eigenvector values to add to one (1). Then, each matrix row value ((i<sub>k</sub>, j<sub>n</sub>) for the criteria pair was multiplied by the corresponding normalized eigenvector column values (e.g., row (i<sub>1</sub>, j<sub>1</sub>) to normalized eigenvector (cell 1) and row (i<sub>2</sub>, j<sub>2</sub>) to normalized eigenvector (cell 2)) then the results summed up to obtain a new vector, Aω.

3) Finally, each A $\omega$  was multiplied by the corresponding normalized eigenvector resulting eigenvalues,  $\lambda$ max. Mean of  $\lambda$ max estimates the overall eigenvalue and must be larger than the number of criteria fitted for non-erroneous calculations.

	AN	LL	PI	IG	LC	SP	IM	PD	Eigenvector	Normalised	Αω	Eigenvalues
										Eigenvector(ω)		(հMax)
AN	1	2	2	2	3	2	3	7	2.374	0.24	2.038	8.409
LL	0.5	1	2	2	3	3	3	7	2.100	0.21	1.777	8.290
PI	0.5	0.5	1	1	3	2	3	5	1.476	0.15	1.239	8.223
IG	0.5	0.5	1.0	1	3	2	2	7	1.463	0.15	1.235	8.269
LC	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	1	2	2	3	0.788	0.08	0.686	8.532
SP	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	2	3	0.733	0.07	0.621	8.299
IM	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	3	0.586	0.06	0.499	8.337
PD	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.3	1	0.275	0.03	0.229	8.164
Total	3.0	6.0	6.5	10.2	13.0	16.0	25.5	32	10.259	1.000		

Table 1: Pairwise comparison matrix for factor criteria

### **Eigenvalues** (λmax)

 $\lambda \mathbf{max} = \frac{\mathbf{A}\omega}{\omega}$  (where:  $\lambda \mathbf{max}$ ), estimates of the eigenvalues for each matrix row;  $\mathbf{A}\omega$ , overall sum of row, eigenvector products;  $\omega$ , the normalised eigenvectors)

 $\lambda \max_{(1-8)} = (8.409, 8.290, 8.223, 8.269, 8.532, 8.299, 8.337, 8.164); \text{ mean } (\lambda \max_{1}) = 8.315$ Mean of  $\lambda$ max is larger than 8 therefore there was no error in the calculations.

**Consistency Index (CI)** 

 $CI = \frac{\lambda_{max} - n}{n - 1}$ CI = (8.3-8)/(8-1) = 0.45 (where: Max, mean ( $\lambda$ max); n, the count of criteria)

**Consistency Ratio (CR)** 

$$CR = \frac{CI}{RI}$$

= 0.45/1.41 = 0.03 (where: RI is the Saaty's random index corresponding to n in **Table** 2)

Consistency ratio of 0.03 is less than 0.1 and therefore the derived weights lie within acceptable limit of consistency.

Table 2: Saaty's random index (R) for the order of the matrix (N)

Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
RI	0	0	0.58	0.9	1.12	1.24	1.32	1.41	1.45	1.49	1.51	1.48	1.56	1.57	1.59

## Appendix 6: Publications

The respective chapters of this thesis have generated the following peer reviewed publications as listed.

- 1. **Otieno, F.T.**, Gachohi, J., Gikuma-Njuru, P., Kariuki, P., Oyas, H., Canfield, S.A., Blackburn, J.K., Njenga, M.K. and Bett, B., 2021. Modeling the spatial distribution of anthrax in southern Kenya. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 15(3), p.e0009301.
- Otieno, F.T.; Gachohi, J.; Gikuma-Njuru, P.; Kariuki, P.; Oyas, H.; Canfield, S.A.; Bett, B.; Njenga, M.K.; Blackburn, J.K. Modeling the Potential Future Distribution of Anthrax Outbreaks under Multiple Climate Change Scenarios for Kenya. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021, 18, 4176. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18084176